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The Metropolitan Redevelopment 
Authority (MRA) would like to 
acknowledge and pay respect 
to the Noongar Whadjuk 
people as the traditional and 
original owners, and continuing 
custodians, of the land on which 
all of the MRA’s work takes place.

The MRA considers it a great 
privilege to work on Whadjuk 
Boodjar (Whadjuk Country), and 
remains committed to fostering a 
long-term relationship with the 
Noongar people as the agency 
creates new places across 
metropolitan Perth.
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STATEMENT 
OF COMPLIANCE

Hon. Donna Faragher MLC
Minister for Planning
7th Floor, Dumas House
2 Havelock Street
WEST PERTH WA 6005

Dear Minister,

In accordance with Section 63 of the Financial Management Act 2006, we hereby submit for your information and presentation to Parliament the Annual Report of the Metropolitan 
Redevelopment Authority for the reporting period 1 July 2015 to 30 June 2016.

The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006. 

Yours sincerely,

    

Richard Muirhead Jeff Dowling  Kieran Kinsella
Chairperson Deputy Chairperson  Chief Executive Officer

ABOUT THE METROPOLITAN  
REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

T
he Metropolitan Redevelopment 
Authority (MRA) was established 
pursuant to the Metropolitan 
Redevelopment Authority Act 

2011 (the Act) and began operations in 
January 2012 as an amalgamation of four 
existing redevelopment authorities across 
metropolitan Perth. 

With a combination of regulatory planning 
and land development powers, the MRA 
takes projects from vision setting, through 
master planning, to development, sales, 
project marketing, place management and 
activation. The MRA creates successful 
communities where people want to live, 
work and visit. 

Pursuant to section 7 of the Act, the  
functions of the MRA are:

(a) to plan, undertake, promote and 
coordinate the development of 
land in redevelopment areas in the 
metropolitan region; and

(b) for that purpose: 

i.   to prepare and keep under review 
strategic and policy documents in 
relation to the development of land 
in redevelopment areas; 

ii.    under Part 5 [of the Act] to 
prepare and keep under review a 
redevelopment scheme for each 
redevelopment area; and

iii. under Part 6 [of the Act], to  
control development in each 
redevelopment area. 

With five redevelopment areas in the 
agency’s portfolio, the MRA has the  
capacity to transform urban spaces and  
meet the challenges of Perth’s future  
growth by creating strong communities 
while also encouraging sustainability and 
innovation in urban development. 

A unique combination of planning 
and development powers, and place 
management expertise, enables the agency 
to deliver successful communities that 
offer new residential and commercial 
opportunities, public open space and 
supporting infrastructure that benefits 
visitors, workers and residents alike.

With innovative design and planning 
– and in partnership with government, 
communities and industry – the MRA 
promotes economic wellbeing, urban 
efficiency, and social inclusion, connects 
people and communities, and protects 
and restores the environment wherever 
possible. 

Working together with partners, the MRA 
revitalises communities and builds a 
distinctive sense of place that transforms 
the city and redefines key areas of 
metropolitan Perth for future generations.

The MRA creates successful communities 
where people want to live, work and visit.

PURPOSE
To deliver redevelopment  
projects of strategic significance 
in metropolitan Perth.

VISION
Dynamic, authentic and 
sustainable places.

VALUES
- Listen
- Lead 
- Communicate 
- Innovate
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The MRA continued to redefine 
and re-energise underutilised 
areas of Perth this year – 
delivering strong outcomes 
across the agency’s five 
redevelopment areas.

P
erth is coming of age with 
thousands of Western 
Australians enjoying the 
benefits of an ambitious and 

bold redevelopment plan, and the 
Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority 
(MRA) has been tasked with delivering 
the State Government’s agenda and 
policy to transform Western Australia’s 
capital city.  A number of major 
projects have reached completion or 
marked major milestones of delivery, 
creating new destinations, facilities and 
opportunities for Western Australian 
families, business and tourists.  

The opening of Elizabeth Quay in 
January 2016 was a historic moment 
for our city; a once-in-a-lifetime 
opportunity to reconnect the city and 
the Swan River and create new and 
contemporary experiences. Having 
been open to the public for less than six 
months, Elizabeth Quay has welcomed 
more than two million visitors – an 
outstanding achievement compared 

with the six million visitors attracted 
each year to Kings Park, Perth’s number 
one tourist destination.  With more 
restaurants, events and development of 
private buildings to come, we expect up 
to four million people to visit Elizabeth 
Quay each year.

Delivery of a project of this scale was 
never going to be simple, let alone 
delivering a $440million infrastructure 
project in parallel with the 12 other 
projects for which the MRA has 
responsibility.  

The MRA has faced many challenges 
in 2015-16.  We have seen a significant 
change for the worse in the global 
economy, from which Western Australia 
has not been immune, with the 
downturn in its resource and energy 
sectors.  This has had a flow on effect 
and we have seen significant declines in 
both demand and pricing for residential, 
commercial and retail properties. The 
MRA has strived to respond proactively 

to these changing market conditions, 
as evidenced by our decision to change 
the land delivery strategy at Perth City 
Link, and we will continue to manage 
challenges as presented by the current 
economic climate.

As the agency approaches five years 
of operations, it is important to reflect 
on the benefit of much of this work for 
the Western Australian community.  
The MRA’s projects have helped 
create thousands of jobs throughout 
the CBD and across metropolitan 
Perth.  Through awarding construction 
contracts, approving development 
applications and opening up new 
opportunities for small business, 
the MRA is facilitating gainful 
employment opportunities for Western 
Australians.  The application of robust 
planning frameworks across our five 
redevelopment areas is providing a 
diverse range of housing opportunities, 
boosting tourism potential and helping 
to deliver on the State Government’s 

infill development targets, while also 
balancing commercial and social 
outcomes.

New destinations such as Elizabeth 
Quay, Yagan Square and Waterbank, 
which looks over the Swan River to 
Perth Stadium, will attract world-class 
events and international tourists to our 
shores to spend their money in Perth.  
These changes will assist our tourism 
sector in its endeavours to position 
Western Australia well to withstand 
changing economic conditions over the 
coming years.  

The MRA has a robust and exciting 
vision for Perth; one that is shared by 
many stakeholders and the community.  
A good track record of experience and 
delivery across 25 years, combined 
with lessons we have learned from our 
first five years of operations, positions 
the agency well to continue to achieve 
the best possible outcomes across the 
MRA’s projects in the future.  There are 
many exciting opportunities to come 

and much more change afoot for our 
city but I believe the potential growth of 
Perth’s strategic metropolitan centres 
hold the greatest capacity for change.  
New master plans for Scarborough 
and Midland and strong development 
and investment throughout Armadale 
lay solid foundations for the next 10-15 
years of transformation and growth, 
much of which will directly impact 
local residents and the adjacent service 
corridors.  

On behalf of the Board, I would like 
to acknowledge the guidance and 
leadership provided by the former 
Minister for Planning Hon John Day 
MLA and thank all of our Government, 
industry and private sector partners for 
their commitment to a shared vision for 
our city.  

We welcome the new Minister for 
Planning, Hon Donna Faragher MLC 
and look forward to working together in 
continuing Perth’s transformation. 

The dedication and commitment of 
the MRA’s Chief Executive Officer, the 
hardworking Executive team and all 
MRA staff and contractors make the 
seemingly unachievable possible, 
and successfully return many, many 
benefits for the Western Australian 
community – none more so than in 
2015-16 with the opening of Elizabeth 
Quay and the start of construction of 
new destinations at Yagan Square and 
Scarborough. The Board acknowledges 
this has been a very busy year for 
MRA staff and we are cognisant of the 
workload this has created.  On behalf of 
the Board, I would like to acknowledge 
this work and the significant and 
positive outcomes achieved by 
the MRA, on behalf of the Western 
Australian Government.  We know the 
staff and management of the MRA will 
continue to strive and deliver to their 
maximum capacity.  

I also commend my fellow Board 
members and the Chairs and members 
of the MRA’s five Land Redevelopment 
Committees for their commitment 
and contribution to strategic planning 
direction and achieving quality 
outcomes this year.

The foresight of Government planning 
and investment has provided the 
facilities and infrastructure to catalyse 
private sector investment across the 
State and stimulate new markets 
while also ensuring our growing city 
can meet the changing demands and 
expectations of future generations of 
residents and visitors alike.    

Richard Muirhead
Chairperson

CHAIRPERSON’S 
REVIEW

Richard Muirhead
Chairperson
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER:  
YEAR IN REVIEW 2015-16

The 2015-16 reporting period 
delivered some of MRA’s 
greatest achievements, 
alongside a weakening 
economy and other challenges, 
as our projects helped  
to fundamentally redefine  
our city.

P
erth’s transformation continued 
as new destinations and facilities 
opened or started construction 
this year, presenting exciting 

opportunities and experiences for 
thousands of Western Australians.  
From the opening of Elizabeth Quay, 
Perth’s premier waterfront precinct, 
to development of Yagan Square and 
the new Scarborough beachfront, 
Perth continued to evolve as a vibrant 
city and major tourism destination 
– supporting the Western Australian 
Government’s broader economic and 
tourism strategies.

The MRA was well positioned to 
respond to changing economic 
circumstances during this reporting 
period.  The flexibility of MRA’s land 
sales strategy and master planning, 
and focused investment in our asset 
portfolio, enabled the agency to 
continue to draw revenue across our 

five redevelopment areas and to make 
informed decisions where challenging 
situations required.   

Record land sales were achieved at 
Elizabeth Quay despite a greater than 
anticipated fall away of the Perth 
commercial market.  Strong State 
Government vision and capital funding 
helped to attract investment from many 
international developers who continue 
to introduce new products, brands and 
amenity to our city.  

The Perth City Link project provided 
a positive opportunity to bolster 
private investment in the city to help 
complete the reconnection of the 
CBD and Northbridge. During the 
2015-16 financial year the decision to 
terminate negotiations on the sale of 
land within the project was not made 
lightly but was deemed necessary 
after protracted negotiations.  Those 
negotiations transcended major 

changes in the commercial market 
and delivery of the project and 
unfortunately a mutually satisfactory 
agreement could not be reached. Perth 
City Link remains well positioned for 
future investment, as completion of 
the transport infrastructure has made 
the land available for titling and future 
development, and attracting investors 
to complete our vision for this project 
will be a key focus for the MRA in 2016-
17 and beyond.  

Reflecting on our achievements, 
the MRA is well positioned and has 
considerable redevelopment experience 
to deliver the long-term vision of 
our projects and realise the State 
Government’s plans for a transformed 
Perth.  The award-winning Subi Centro 
project reached 85% completion this 
year by recording another year of solid 
land sales while at the other end of our 
development continuum, Waterbank 

at Riverside is poised to begin 
construction next year after contractual 
arrangements were finalised this year 
with Lendlease for the $1billion mixed-
use precinct, which will bring enhanced 
amenity to this under-utilised section 
on the east side of the city.

A key function of the MRA is to assist 
in catalysing development where 
the potential has previously been 
constrained.  In Scarborough, adoption 
of a new planning framework for 
the 100ha redevelopment area was 
widely embraced by landowners and 
developers with 36 development 
applications considered this year 
representing almost $72million in 
private investment and bringing new 
apartments, tourist accommodation and 
retail developments to Scarborough.  

A new planning framework will guide 
delivery of the master plan for Midland 

and help to realise the city’s role as a 
strategic metropolitan centre, while the 
build out of the Forrestdale Business 
Park is providing new employment 
opportunities for Perth’s growing south 
east metropolitan region. 

One of the major successes for the 
MRA in 2015-16 was the formalisation 
of a cultural compact and engagement 
framework with the Whadjuk Noongar 
traditional owners of the country 
that the MRA works on.  While some 
foundation work was laid in previous 
years, our collaboration with the 
Whadjuk Working Party evolved this 
year through a trial engagement 
process for Yagan Square and the 
adoption of Kaart Koort Waarnging, 
a customised framework to enable 
cultural contribution and participation 
in the MRA projects and guide Whadjuk 
and the MRA walking, listening, talking 
and working together.

The opening of Elizabeth Quay in 
January 2016 provided an opportunity 
for the State Government to extend 
its partnerships with major arts 
festivals, FRINGE World and the Perth 
International Arts Festivals and brought 
an unparalleled summer of celebration 
to the city.  More than one million 
people visited Elizabeth Quay in the first 
three weeks of operations with visitors 
enjoying the public art, playgrounds, 
views, boat facilities and other public 
amenities.  

As the MRA celebrates five years of 
operation, and more than 25 years of 
urban redevelopment in Perth, it is 
natural to reflect on the contribution of 
these projects to the growth of our city.  
One of the most momentous occasions 
was the opening of Elizabeth Quay 
and the volume of people that have 
embraced this precinct and all of the 
opportunities it offers.  I am proud of 

the whole team at the MRA who have 
helped to deliver a new destination 
for the city and paved the way for new 
and expanding business opportunities 
within a precinct that is encouraging 
many Western Australians and visitors 
to Perth to rediscover our city.

Kieran Kinsella
Chief Executive Officer

Kieran Kinsella
Chief Executive Officer
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2015-16 
HIGHLIGHTS

Sense of Place
To build a sense of place 
by supporting high quality 
urban design, heritage 
protection, public art 
and cultural activities 
that respond to Perth’s 
environment, climate and 
lifestyle.

Connectivity
To enhance connectivity 
and reduce the need 
to travel by supporting 
development aimed at 
well designed places that 
support walking, cycling 
and public transit.

Economic Wellbeing
To promote economic 
wellbeing by supporting, 
where appropriate, 
development that facilitates 
investment and provides 
opportunity for local 
businesses and emerging 
industries to satisfy market 
demand.

Social Inclusion
To promote social inclusion 
by encouraging, where 
appropriate, a diverse 
range of housing and by 
supporting community 
infrastructure and activities 
and opportunities for 
visitors and residents to 
socialise.

Urban Efficiency
To promote urban efficiency 
through infrastructure and 
buildings, the mix of land 
use and facilitating a  
critical mass of population 
and employment.

Environmental Integrity
To enhance environmental  
integrity by encouraging 
ecologically sustainable 
design, resource efficiency, 
recycling, renewable energy 
and protection of the  
local ecology.

Underpinning the MRA’s vision are its key objectives for each 
Redevelopment Area. As per regulation 14 of the MRA Regulations 
2011, the objectives of each area are shown below: 

REDEVELOPMENT AREA OBJECTIVES

With 13 projects across five 
redevelopment areas, the MRA’s 
impact on Perth continued to 
be far reaching and deeply 
transformative this year.  
From attracting millions of 
dollars in private investment, 
providing new employment 
opportunities for thousands 
of Western Australians and 
creating enjoyable new places 
for business and leisure, the 
MRA’s work continued to deliver 
outcomes that ensure the city 
thrives now and into the future. 

Key achievements realised 
by the MRA this year, as 
aligned with the agency’s 
Redevelopment Area Objectives, 
included:

BUILDING A  
SENSE OF PLACE 

• Perth’s new waterfront precinct, 
Elizabeth Quay, opened on 29 January 
2016 attracting more than two million 
visitors within the first six months.

• More than 130 events and performances 
were held across MRA projects – 
attended by hundreds of thousands  
of people.

• Six artworks were installed to energise 
new spaces – five at Elizabeth Quay, 
one at Subi Centro (facilitated by 
the City of Subiaco) and a number 
of ephemeral and permanent public 
artworks commissioned by Leighton 
Properties within the new Kings Square 
commercial precinct of Perth’s CBD.

• Construction of Perth’s newest 
destinations began on the Scarborough 
foreshore and at Yagan Square in Perth 
City Link.

• An informative walking trail opened at 
the Midland Railway Workshops sharing 
information about Midland’s past, 
present and future.

PROMOTING  
URBAN EFFICIENCY 

• The Scarborough Redevelopment 
Area Master Plan, the Midland 
Redevelopment Scheme and the 
Armadale City Centre/West of Rail 
Structure Plan were finalised to 
improve urban efficiency in these 
growth areas.

• The first tenants moved into the Kings 
Square commercial precinct of Perth 
City Link, neighbouring the new Perth 
Busport. A development application 
for the first residential building in the 
precinct was also approved and the 
MRA commenced planning and design 
for the adjacent public open space.

• Approval was granted for development 
of the first residential building at 
Waterbank, within the MRA’s Riverside 
project. Further west, the Queens 
Riverside development was completed 
and a number of dilapidated buildings 
at the old Chemistry Centre were 
demolished to make way for a new 
mixed-use development. 

• Major private development  
progressed at Forrestdale Business 
Park in Armadale, promoting growth in 
this area.

• The first private residential 
development in the Australian 
Fine China precinct in Subiaco was 
completed, adding new housing 
options within this transit-orientated 
project.

• Construction began on Victoria 
Quarter, the first mixed-use 
development at Midland’s Railway 
Square.

PROMOTING  
ECONOMIC WELLBEING

• A number of major construction 
contracts were awarded for 
development of public spaces and 
services infrastructure within the Perth 
City Link, Scarborough and Midland 
projects totalling more than $83million.  

• Commercial leasing activities saw 
the first three food and beverage 
outlets operational at Elizabeth Quay, 
solid tenancy performance in the 
28 tenancies on William Street in 
Northbridge, and across the MRA’s 
property portfolio in Armadale and 
Midland. Negotiations also progressed 
for new leasing opportunities at Yagan 
Square and Scarborough.

• More than 300 development 
applications, with a potential 
development value of $1.5billion –  
and the potential to create more than 
500 jobs were approved by the MRA 
 in 2015-16.

• Sales income of $35million was 
achieved, and further major 
negotiations for land sales commenced 
or progressed in Elizabeth Quay, 
Subiaco and Perth City Link.

Scarborough Beach at night
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2015-16 
HIGHLIGHTS

ENHANCING  
ENVIRONMENTAL 
INTEGRITY 

• A Wetland and Rehabilitation 
Management Plan for the Hilbert Road 
Wetland in Armadale was prepared 
and released for comment. 

• Final land stabilisation work was 
completed to reclaim land near the 
Swan River’s edge at Waterbank within 
Riverside.

• Remediation earthworks were 
completed on the Western Paddock in 
Midland to enable future development.

• The Wungong Urban project’s 
water quality monitoring program 
was showcased at the International 
Sustainable Water Management 
Conference.

Motivated and 
Talented People 
Recruit and retain the 
best and the brightest 
motivated and talented 
people by building a 
strong corporate culture 
and making the MRA an 
employer of choice.

Business Efficiency
Build business 
efficiency by continually 
encouraging business 
improvements and 
regularly reviewing 
processes and 
procedures in search of 
best practice.

The following Corporate Objectives enable the effective  
and efficient management of our business.

CORPORATE OBJECTIVES

Sound Financial 
Management
Enhance sound 
financial management 
and demonstrate 
open, transparent and 
accountable governance, 
strengthen the MRA’s 
financial position, 
demonstrate effective asset 
stewardship and encourage 
private sector investment.

Effective Stakeholder 
Relationships
Build effective stakeholder 
relationships by identifying 
key stakeholders, assessing 
stakeholder needs, 
communicating success 
stories in innovative ways, 
ensuring meaningful 
engagement, and building 
partnerships that enable 
the State Government to 
achieve its objectives.

PROMOTING  
SOCIAL INCLUSION 

• Several properties and lots were 
sold or leased to private developers 
to provide low-cost, short-stay 
or affordable housing options, 
including lots within the Railway 
Square and Workshops precincts in 
Midland and the former Perth Hostel 
building on William Street.

• Structure planning approvals within 
the Wungong Urban project enabled 
substantial private development 
to move forward and deliver new, 
affordable, sustainable housing near 
Armadale. 

• More than 60 free community events 
were hosted across MRA projects, 
including family focused activities 
for the opening and WA Day 
celebrations at Elizabeth Quay.

• A Changing Places ablution facility 
for people with profound disabilities 
was opened at Elizabeth Quay, with 
plans announced for others within 
the Perth City Link, Riverside and 
Scarborough projects.

• Plans for a new public space, 
suitable for regional events, were 
revealed for Railway Square in 
Midland.

• The vision for the Waterbank 
precinct at Riverside was unveiled, 
featuring a range of new amenities 
that will be freely accessible to the 
public, including a beach.

Sienna Wood Estate in Wungong Urban

ENHANCING  
CONNECTIVITY 

• New pedestrian/cycle paths opened at 
Elizabeth Quay, connecting to Perth’s 
broader Primary Shared Pathway 
network.

• The new Transperth ferry terminal 
opened at Elizabeth Quay, with 
commuter numbers increasing by 
450% on the South Perth Ferry route 
after the opening.

• Construction of the new underground 
Perth Busport and associated public 
access ways within the Perth City Link 
project were completed. 

• Clayton Street in Midland was 
upgraded, and the Lloyd Street 
underpass completed, to provide 
essential emergency access to the new 
Midland Public Hospital.

• Major subdivision works were 
completed at the Midland Workshops, 
opening up further development 
opportunity near the train station and 
other amenities and providing public 
access to the precinct for the first time 
in a number of years. 
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APPROACH:  
MRA MODEL AND STRATEGIC PLAN

THE MRA PLACE MAKING MODEL

Social  
Inclusion

Environmental 
Integrity

Economic  
Wellbeing

Connectivity 

Sense of  
Place

Urban  
Efficiency

CORPORATE OBJECTIVES

Motivated &  
Talented People

Effective Stakeholder 
Relationships

Business  
Efficiency

Sound Financial  
Management

2. INITIATION 3. PLANNING 4. IMPLEMENTATION 5. NORMALISATION

PLACE  MANAGEMENT PROCESSES

DEVELOPMENT PROCESSES

REGULATORY PROCESSES
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• Project Brief
• Preliminary  

Master Plan
• Land Assembly 

Strategy
• Business Case

• Planning 
Strategy

• Establish 
Boundary

• Place Plan
• Place 

Implementation 
Plan

• Commercial 
Strategy

• Public Art Strategy
• Place Activation 

Strategy

• Statutory 
Approvals

• Land Assembly
• Asset 

Management Plan
• Project Definition 

Plan
• Master Plan

• Scheme
• Planning Policies
• Design Guidelines
• Developer  

Contribution Plan
• Heritage Inventory

• Leasing
• Sponsorship
• Activation

• Subdivision Design
• Detailed Design
• Works Program
• Titles Creation
• Sales

• Structure Plan
• Subdivision  

Assessment
• DA Assessment
• Working Drawings
• Planning Compliance

SU
CCESSFU

L 
   RED
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T 
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ES
• Project 

Assessment
• Pre -feasibility 

Study
• Concept 

Approval

S
T

R
A

T
E
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IR

E
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N

Market 
Appetite

Fiscal 
Conditions

Industry 
Trends

Government 
Priority

Environmental 
Conditions

Demographic 
Trends

BUSINESS  
DRIVERS

• Management 
Transfer

• Subtracted Area 

REDEVELOPMENT 
AREA OBJECTIVES1. INVESTIGATION

MRA Model and Strategic 
Direction
The MRA’s Place Making Model maps the 
business processes used by the MRA to 
create places and deliver on the agency’s 
Redevelopment Area Objectives. 

As a developer, planning authority 
and place manager, the MRA operates 
within a unique space and this model 
visually shows how these functions work 
together throughout a project’s life cycle.  
The MRA commenced development of 
Redevelopment Area Strategies to enable 
consistent delivery of its Redevelopment 
Areas Objectives across its portfolio. 

MRA’s Strategic Plan 
The MRA Strategic Plan 2014-18 
highlights what the MRA is, what it does 
and where it is headed. MRA continued 
to deliver on the initiatives outlined in 
the plan to drive achievement of the 
Corporate and Redevelopment Area 
Objectives and remained on track to 
deliver the majority of the initiatives by 
the end of the strategic planning period 
in 2018.  
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The Central Perth Redevelopment Area includes the Elizabeth Quay, Perth City Link, Riverside, Perth Cultural Centre, Chinatown,  
Claisebrook Village, New Northbridge and East Perth Power Station projects.  These projects cover 245 hectares of Perth’s CBD.   
Collectively, they represent more than $2.5billion in government investment and in excess of $9.5billion in potential investment attraction.

CENTRAL PERTH  
REDEVELOPMENT AREA

Claisebrook  
Village

Riverside

East Perth 
Power Station

N

M
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St Georges Terrace

Adelaide Terrace

Wellington St

Newcastle Street

Graham Farmer Freeway

Riverside Drive

Lo
rd

 S
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et
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au

fo
rt 

St
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et

REDEVELOPMENT  
AREAS

SCARBOROUGH
CENTRAL PERTH

ARMADALE

MIDLAND

SUBIACO

Within the MRA’s five 
redevelopment areas are  
13 projects that provide new 
commercial, hotel, residential 
and retail accommodation  
and high quality public  
spaces across more than  
3,300 hectares of land. 
In 2015-16, the MRA’s projects 
represented more than $3.7billion 
worth of Government investment 
with a potential investment attraction 
of almost $13billion.  Government 
funding for capital works was allocated 
this year to active MRA projects, with a 
number of projects nearing completion 
or largely normalised.

Elizabeth Quay

New 
Northbridge

Perth  
Cultural Centre

Perth  
City Link
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ELIZABETH QUAY: 
THE RIVER. THE CITY.  
TOGETHER AGAIN.

Elizabeth Quay opening celebrations in January 2016

A
lready a popular attraction for locals 
and tourists, Elizabeth Quay is 
expected to draw up to four million 
visitors a year and provide housing 

and commercial opportunities for up to 
1,400 residents and 10,000 workers when 
development of private buildings around the 
inlet are complete. 

After a four-year public works program, 
Elizabeth Quay’s public realm opened on 29 
January 2016 and welcomed more than two 
million visitors before year-end in what was 
a highly successful opening period for the 
new, landmark public space.  

Completed works in 2015-16 included 
excavation of the river inlet and installation 
of services to the public areas, final upgrades 
to the surrounding road network and granite 
paving of the promenades and landing and a 
$4million public art program. The revitalised 
Barrack Street Jetty precinct was unveiled 
in late 2015 which also saw the return of the 
school signatures collected at the millennium 
to the precinct in the form of a new artwork.

Newly created attractions and facilities 
include the island in the centre of the inlet, 
complete with café, toilets and a nautical-
themed playground; the BHP Billiton Water 

Perth’s premier waterfront 
destination Elizabeth Quay 
has reconnected those who 
live, work and visit the city 
with the iconic Swan River 
and all it offers. 

Project expectations

Park and adjacent food and beverage outlet, 
public amenities and precinct control room; 
a new ferry terminal for the Transperth ferry 
and public moorings as well as a range of 
public amenities, landscaping and heritage 
elements lining the promenades.

The opening of Elizabeth Quay signalled 
the start of the next phase of the project 
which will continue to focus on place 
activation, investment attraction and private 
development. Highlights from the first five 
months of operations include:

• three weeks of opening celebrations 
featuring free, family-friendly activities that 
coincided with Perth’s popular FRINGE 
World Festival and the Perth International 
Arts Festival which both had residencies at 
the quay;

• opening of three new food and beverage 
outlets – The Reveley, V-Burger Bar and 
Gusto Gelato; 

• a successful place activation strategy, 
with 60 events and activities attracting 
hundreds of thousands of visitors; and

• a public realm maintenance program 
covering security, cleaning, landscaping 
and general maintenance. 

During the year, land sales remained on 
track with developers chosen for eight 
of the nine lots representing more than 
$235million in expected revenue. In 2015-
16, the MRA confirmed CA & Associates – a 
consortium between local developer Adrian 
Fini and Malaysian developer Victor Goh – as 
preferred proponent to deliver a hotel and 
residential development on the western 
promenade of the quay. Development 
approval was granted to Far East Consortium 
in August 2015 enabling construction of The 
Ritz-Carlton and apartments on the eastern 
promenade to commence next year.

Commercial negotiations continued for 
Brookfield Multiplex Pty Ltd to secure an 
anchor tenant for their development while 
Chevron Australia continued planning 
and design for their new headquarters at 
Elizabeth Quay. The MRA provided the 
necessary contract extensions to enable both 
developers to progress their plans.

Elizabeth Quay is expected to draw 
up to four million visitors a year.

Images left to right:  the inaugural Perth ‘Dîner en Blanc’ event; the bridge to the island at night
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current projections.  
*Includes MRA investment only.
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PERTH CITY LINK: 
CONNECTING THE CBD  
AND NORTHBRIDGE.

Perth City Link is removing 
the barrier between 
Perth’s city centre and  
the entertainment district 
of Northbridge for the  
first time in more than  
100 years.  

D
elivered in partnership with other 
Government agencies and the private 
sector, Perth City Link is expected to 
provide 1,650 new apartments for 

more than 3,000 residents and house 13,500 
workers in 244,000 square metres of new 
commercial and retail space.

The Perth City Link project achieved major 
milestones in 2015-16 with completion of 
the underground transport components and 
the first commercial towers and the start 
of construction of Yagan Square following 
award of a $65million works contract to 
DORIC Group.

In February 2016, three Whadjuk Noongar 
women used traditional digging sticks to 
mark the start of an 18-month construction 
program which will create employment 

for more than 220 workers and 80 
subcontracting groups.  The MRA also 
continues to seek unique lessors for 25 
restaurant, bar and market hall tenancies 
within the square. 

The first four commercial buildings were 
completed by Leighton Properties as part of 
the Kings Square precinct and approval was 
granted for a 563 apartment development.  
New cafés, bars, public art and community 
services were also launched in April. 

In May 2016, the MRA ceased negotiations 
with Mirvac for the sale and development 
of Government landholdings at Perth City 
Link.  A new land release strategy will rollout 
in 2016 while negotiations relating to two 
lots adjacent to Perth Arena continue with an 
alternative developer. 

Perth City Link master vision

The landmark underground Perth Busport will significantly benefit the 
millions of commuters who use our city’s integrated transport system 
each year. Each week day, about 1,400 buses will travel through the 
facility and there will be about 28,000 passenger movements.

The new Perth Busport

Project expectations

1650

Government 
investment*

(inc Perth Arena)

Investment 
attraction

Go
ve

rn
m

en
t

1

2

3

4

BI
LL

IO
N

 $

$4.0

$1.39

B I L L I O N

B I L L I O N

At
tra

ct
io

n

13500

3000

Dwellings

Resident population

New workers

244000m2
C O M M E R C I A L /
O F F I C E / R E T A I L #

Expected Year of Completion 
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Note: These are estimated figures based on current 
projections. 
*Includes MRA, Public Transport Authority and  
Perth Arena investment.
# estimated.
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RIVERSIDE:  
WATERFRONT COMMUNITY

Waterbank at Riverside

W
ith potential to provide homes 
and a place of work for more 
than 6,000 people, the project 
complements other Government 
and private investment on the 

eastern banks of the Swan River, including 
the $1.2billion Perth Stadium. 

Several major milestones were achieved in 
2015-16, enabling the vision for Riverside 
to be realised across several parts of the 
project and helping to realise the future 
development potential of East Perth.

Contractual arrangements were finalised 
with Lendlease for the $1billion Waterbank 
project – a mixed-use precinct including 
residential, entertainment, retail and 
commercial accommodation, a man-made 
beach, boardwalks, public art, parks and 
associated amenities. The MRA completed 
surcharging works to reclaim and stabilise 
land at the edge of the Swan River, enabling 
construction to commence in 2016-17.    
Approval was granted for the first  
Waterbank buildings which include a 
32-storey residential tower with 269 
apartments, townhouse dwellings and 
ground-floor food and beverage outlets.  

Following the sale of the former Chemistry 
Centre site in February 2015, the MRA 
completed demolition works and remediated 
the site in readiness for construction of 
a new 16-storey mixed-use 1500sqm 
development by Diploma Construction Pty 
Ltd to commence in 2016-17. 

The fourth and final building of the Queens 
Riverside development by Frasers Property 
Australia was completed and the first 
residents took occupancy in March 2016.  
Since 2012, Queens Riverside has delivered 
498 apartments, a hotel and new retail and 
food and beverage outlets.  

The MRA continued to progress the 
Riverside Master Plan vision with preliminary 
work undertaken to examine the potential of 
the WA Police site on Hay Street for future 
sale in order to facilitate land acquisition and 
subdivision will be undertaken in 2016-17.

Spanning 40 hectares – and encompassing 
local icons the Western Australian Cricket 
Association, Gloucester Park and Queens 
Gardens – Riverside is transforming the 
city’s eastern gateway by creating a 
waterfront community and visitor precinct. 

Project expectations

Government 
investment*

Investment 
attraction

Go
ve

rn
m

en
t

0.5

1

1.5

2

BI
LL

IO
N

 $

$2.0

$142.8

6000

B I L L I O N

M I L L I O N

At
tra

ct
io

n

4000

7000

New Dwellings

New population

New workers

94000m2
C O M M E R C I A L /
O F F I C E / R E T A I L #

Expected Year of Completion 

2020+
Note: These are estimated figures based on 
current projections.  
*Includes MRA investment only.
# estimated.

Above: Dining options at Lendlease’s Waterbank; top: “Little Eat Street” at the former Chemistry Centre site

Approval has been granted for the first 
Waterbank buildings which include 
a 32 storey residential tower with 
apartments, townhoses and ground-
floor food and beverage outlets.

UP 
TO
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PERTH CULTURAL 
CENTRE:  
PREMIER EVENTS SPACE

Visitors enjoying the Perth Cultural Centre The Northbridge Tunnel at night

U
p to 35,000 people of all ages and 
from all backgrounds wander 
through, discover and enjoy the 
area, and the adjacent William 
Street precinct, every day. 

Place activation and property leasing and 
management within the Perth Cultural 
Centre (PCC) were key focus areas for the 
MRA in 2015-16.  More than 40 events – 
hosted by the MRA, the cultural institutions 
and/or private event companies – were 
held in the PCC during 2015-16 attracting 
around 500,000 people.  Events included 
the FRINGE World, AWESOME Arts and 
Scitech’s Science festivals, NAIDOC Week, 
OnWilliam’s Summer Night Markets, 
TruckStop, and Bar Pop in the Urban 
Orchard.

Leasing arrangements were extended to 
include temporary food vans and pop-
up stalls which support events and draw 
more visitors to the area. Eleven food truck 
operators took residency during the year, 
providing a rotating schedule of varied 
offerings.  

The MRA also continued to manage  
31 tenancies in 16 buildings on William 
Street, returning revenue which, in 
part, funds place activation and place 
management within the PCC. The award-
winning heritage precinct features an 
eclectic mix of independent retailers, small 
bars, restaurants and creative industries,  
as well as pop-up tenancies.

In early 2016, the MRA facilitated a new 
chapter for two iconic buildings of the 
precinct.  Following comprehensive 
restoration and refurbishment works, the 
former Perth Hostel building re-opened its 
doors as short-stay accommodation for 
international students and overseas visitors.   
Plans for a $3million refurbishment of the 
heritage-listed Rechabites Hall by preferred 
proponent Happy Heart Pty Ltd will see a 
new multi-level cultural and entertainment 
venue open in this building in 2017.   
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NEW NORTHBRIDGE: 
AWARD WINNER

N
ow in its final stages, the project 
has transformed a corridor of 
vacant land above the Northbridge 
Tunnel and restored many of the 
city’s heritage buildings.  

The New Northbridge project is now 70% 
complete, and planning control for the 
project areas has been returned to the Local 
Governments (the City of Perth and the 
City of Vincent). The MRA is working to 
realise the development potential of key 
remaining sites, attract further private 
investment and act as a catalyst for 
development across Northbridge.  

In 2015-16, the MRA focused on 
consolidating the balance of the project 
area, including commencing the sale of a 
collection of buildings along Beaufort Street 
near Weld Square, facilitating a long-term 
lease for the refurbished Union Bakery on 
Lindsay Street and facilitating planning and 
development approvals on key sites.  
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O F F I C E / R E T A I L #

Note: These are estimated figures based on current projections.    
* Includes MRA investment only.
# estimated.

Percentage normalised

The national award-
winning New Northbridge 
project is one of Perth’s 
greatest urban regeneration 
success stories.  

The MRA continues to work 
closely with the State’s 
leading culture and arts 
institutions to coordinate and 
promote a rolling calendar 
of exciting activations and 
experiences at the Perth 
Cultural Centre.  
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R
edevelopment of Claisebrook 
Village is 85% complete with 
planning control for most of  
the area returned to the City  
of Perth and MRA activities 

focused on asset management and  
land development.  

In 2015-16, construction of two new 
mixed-use developments commenced 
which have a combined value of 
$21.5million and will deliver an additional 
88 apartments to Claisebrook Village.

The MRA also continued ongoing 
activities including maintenance and 
monitoring of the waste containment 
facility at Mardalup Park and the 
management of leases with City Farm,  
a community garden with education  
and training programs as well as a 
function venue.

F
ollowing a market testing exercise 
in 2014, the MRA continues to work 
with a number of State Government 
agencies to identify solutions that 
will relieve the site of physical 

constraints and enable the development 
potential to be realised.  Further planning 
work is being undertaken to determine 
the scope and scale of works required to 
remove existing infrastructure. The MRA  
continues to maintain the historic  
building in the interim.  

Project expectations
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projections.    
* Includes MRA investment only.
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Percentage 
normalised
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CLAISEBROOK 
VILLAGE:  
URBAN RENEWAL

One of Perth’s earliest 
large-scale inner city 
urban regeneration 
projects, Claisebrook 
Village, transformed an 
industrial wasteland into  
a modern waterfront  
urban village.  

EAST PERTH  
POWER  
STATION:  
UNIQUE

The 8.5 hectare East Perth Power Station site has the potential 
to be transformed into a new riverfront destination with 
commercial, retail, residential and recreational opportunities 
that engage the picturesque Swan River and celebrate the 
unique heritage value of the building.   

The East Perth Power Station site is listed on the State 
Government’s Assets Sales Register.

Project expectations
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projections.    
* Includes MRA investment only.
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Expected Year of Completion 

2020+

Our project area for East Perth 
Power Station includes the 
heritage listed power station 
building and an abundance of 
natural space along the river’s 
edge.

The heritage listed East Perth Power StationThe Swan River at Claisebrook Village
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MIDLAND 
REDEVELOPMENT AREA
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MIDLAND:
KNOWLEDGE HUB

Delivery of the new Midland 
Master Plan is creating a 
knowledge and education 
hub and building on the past 
15 years of redevelopment 
to transform Midland into a 
strategic centre of Perth’s 
eastern metropolitan region. 

T
he project is expected to deliver 7,000 
new residential dwellings, 18,300 
new jobs and more than $5billion of 
combined Government and private 
investment attraction to the area. 

This year represented a period of renewed 
focus for the Midland Redevelopment 
Area with development of a new planning 
framework to support the Midland Master 
Plan, strong land sales and ongoing 
development and completion of major  
civil works. 

The MRA continued the revitalisation of 
the Midland Workshops including the 
completion of $13.5million worth of road 
upgrades, remediation, subdivision and 
earthworks enabling subdivision to proceed 
and providing improved access to the new 
hospital. 

New roads within the precinct and footpath 
connections provided public access to 
the Workshops for the first time in many 
years with a new walking trail that details 
Midland’s past, present and future and 
connects the Helena Valley foreshore with 
Coal Dam Park.

Plans were finalised for a makeover of 
Midland’s former railway shunting yard 
into a new community space with works 
expected to commence in September 2016.  
Railway Square is to be located at the front 
of the Midland Workshops precinct and will 
feature a ceremonial railway line, water 
feature, landscaping and public art as well 
as shade, seating and lighting displays and 
will be available for a range of events.

In 2015-16, a number of developers 
also progressed plans for development 
surrounding the future Railway Square 
including new residential, short-stay 
accommodation and affordable housing 
options.  Construction of Victoria Quarter 
by Sterlink Development including two 
apartment buildings and a 144-room short-
stay hotel is expected to be completed in 
2016-17. WA-based Aigle Royal Properties 
were selected this year the year as the 
preferred proponent for the 14-hectare 
former Midland Saleyards site. Plans 
include a light industrial, large-format retail 
and commercial development that will 
create approximately 500 jobs.

Above: Construction of Victoria Quarter is underway; top: Railway Square will be Midland’s premier meeting space

At the gateway to Perth Hills and the Swan Valley, the Midland Redevelopment Area covers over 
160 hectares of land 18km from the CBD and encompasses the area in and around the former 
Midland Railway Workshops and the Midland city centre. 
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Expected Year of Completion 

2025+
Note: These are estimated figures based on 
current projections.  
*Includes MRA, Department of Health and WA 
Police investment.
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SCARBOROUGH 
REDEVELOPMENT AREA
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A 
final Scarborough Master Plan for 
the Scarborough redevelopment 
was adopted in 2015-16 and 
forward works commenced in 
early May 2016. Construction also 

commenced on a temporary compound at 
the northern end of Scarborough Beach for 
the surf club, first aid and beach services 
facilities to relocate during construction.

Additional State Government funding of 
$18million was announced in the 2016-17 
State Budget allowing previously unfunded 
parts of the master plan to be delivered, 
including the proposed north and south 
extensions of The Esplanade.  A Community 
Advisory Group will provide input into the 
planning and design of those extensions.

The MRA’s Planning Framework for 
Scarborough was approved in mid-
2016.  The Planning Framework includes 
design guidelines, development policies, 
heritage inventory and a draft Scarborough 
Redevelopment Scheme which will guide 
private development and ensure high 
quality outcomes across the 100 hectare 
Redevelopment Area.

In 2015-16, the MRA considered 36 
development applications representing 
nearly $72million in private investment 
and bringing new apartments, tourist 
accommodation and retail developments to 
Scarborough.

A consortium was appointed to design the 
new beach hub and integrate the facility 
with the City of Stirling’s beachfront pool.  
Collaboration also continued this year with 
various local businesses, arts organisations 
and event operators to attract operators 
for the future beach hubs and activate the 
beachfront including festivals, sporting 
events and ephemeral arts projects.  

Project expectations

Note: These are estimated figures based on current 
projections.  
Note: The City of Stirling are also funding construction 
of a public swimming pool at the beachfront to the 
value of $26million.  This brings the total Government 
investment in Scarborough to approximately 
$100million.
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SCARBOROUGH:
A VIBRANT BEACHFRONT

The MRA is working with the City of Stirling to create a vibrant foreshore at Scarborough Beach with facilities, events and activities to 
attract people of all ages, year-round.  With a robust planning framework, the MRA will work with private developers and landowners to 
bring more residential, commercial, retail, food and beverage and hotel options to Scarborough.

Forward works commenced in 
early May 2016. A consortium 
was appointed to design the 
new beach hib and integrate the 
facility with the City of Stirling’s 
beachfront pool.

Above: Scarborough’s new Transit Hub will welcome visitors; top: Scarborough Square is the heart of the redevelopment
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ARMADALE 
REDEVELOPMENT AREA
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I
n 2015-16, the MRA approved 101 
development applications across 
the Armadale Redevelopment Area 
representing a total of more than 
$56million of investment in the area 

and enabling hundreds of Western 
Australians to move into new homes.  

A revised structure plan for the City Centre/
West of Rail precinct was approved enabling 
higher density residential and mixed-use 
development in the area immediately 
adjacent to the Armadale Train Station, and 
creating better links between the Armadale 
city centre and the surrounding areas.  
Planning for the future redevelopment 
of Kelmscott continued with the City of 
Armadale, the Public Transport Authority 

and Main Roads of Western Australia, 
including broadening the collective 
understanding of the local traffic network, 
interfaces with the town centre and existing 
drainage and power infrastructure capacity. 

The MRA worked with landowners to 
complete landscaping works within 
Forrestdale Business Park including new 
entry statements.  Early investors Hitachi 
Construction Machinery (Australia) Pty Ltd 
continued development of their site with a 
new $100million facility expected to open 
in late 2016. Land acquisition for road and 
drainage reserves commenced to support 
new zoning and continued development 
of the Crossroads Industrial Estate by 
LandCorp. 

ARMADALE: 
STRATEGIC CENTRE

Delivered across six precincts (Armadale Town Centre, Kelmscott, 
Champion Lakes, Champion Drive, Forrestdale Business Park, 
City Centre / West of Railway), the regeneration of Armadale 
continues to provide new living, employment and entertainment 
opportunities for Perth’s fast-growing south metropolitan region. 

The Armadale Redevelopment Area includes the Armadale and Wungong Urban projects, covers 
2,045 hectares and represents more than $400million of government investment including Developer 
Contribution Scheme funding, with expected private investment attraction of $1.2billion. 
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M
IL

LI
ON

 $

Above: Xavier Catholic School in Wungong Urban; top: Crossroads Industrial Estate in Forrestdale Business Park
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WUNGONG URBAN:
SUSTAINABLE URBAN 
DEVELOPMENT

T
he MRA coordinates planning 
and delivery across five active 
development fronts, spanning some 
500 hectares of land, to protect the 
local river catchment and enable 

major land developers to establish new 
communities.

Wungong Urban will create up to 18,000 
residential lots and homes for 45,000 people 
in what was a previously underutilised area, 
constrained by water supply issues.  Future 
development plans include a town centre, 
new schools, regional recreation areas and 
high quality, water sensitive public open 
spaces.  

The Wungong Urban project delivered 
strong outcomes in 2015-16. A preliminary 
land acquisition plan was completed to 
determine the most effective and efficient 
way to assemble land and minimise costs 
and time required to deliver drainage 
and service infrastructure across the 
development area.  

A number of structure plans were also 
approved by the MRA enabling new housing 
lots to be delivered by private developers. 

More than 240 development applications 
were approved this reporting period 
representing total investment value of 
$75million and preliminary environmental, 
engineering and heritage studies were 
undertaken for the Wungong Regional 
Recreation Ground.  

During the year, the MRA completed 
a statutory review of the developer 
contribution scheme and completed the 
planning and design for $9.6million of civil 
and infrastructure works. The Wungong 
Reference Group, established to provide 
strategic direction to the project and increase 
the efficiency of public works, continues 
to enable private development and deliver 
against the quality criteria of the scheme. 

Community and stakeholder feedback on 
the Hilbert Road Wetland and Rehabilitation 
Management Plan was sought and will 
inform the final plan due for completion in 
the year ahead.  The MRA’s water quality 
monitoring program at Wungong Urban, 
which continued this year, was presented 
as a best management practice model 
at the International Sustainable Water 
Management Conference in late 2015.  

Located three kilometres west 
of the Armadale city centre, 
the Wungong Urban project 
is delivering contemporary 
residential development in 
an environmentally sensitive, 
sustainable manner.  

Project expectations
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Expected Year of Completion 

2020+

18000–22000

45000

New dwellings

New population

Note: These are estimated figures 
based on current projections.  
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Sienna Wood Estate Images from bottom left: River rehabilitation at Wungong Urban; Sienna Wood Estate, a part of the Wungong Urban development. Wungong Urban has become recognised as a national model in environmentally sustainable design.
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The Subi Centro project has 
created a new way of living and 
working for more than 5,000 people 
attracted to the redeveloped area. 
More than 85% of the Subi Centro 
Redevelopment Area has been 
completed, with substantial areas 
returned to the City of Subiaco. 

Project expectations
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Percentage normalised

85%
Note: These are estimated figures based on 
current projections.  
*This includes MRA and other government 
investment.
# estimated.

Public art at Australian Fine China

W
ork on the MRA’s remaining 
precincts of Subi Centro 
continued in 2015-16 with 
several new developments 
attaining planning approval  

or commencing construction. At the 
Australian Fine China precinct:
• construction continued on a residential 

development at Lot 205 Wembley Court;  
• construction commenced on a new 

residential development at Lot 206 on 
Price Street;

• development approval was granted for 
a five-storey residential development by 
Puresilver Corp at Lot 208 Price Street 
which will provide long-term rental 
accommodation; 

• Lot 203 Hay Street remained under 
contract for residential and commercial 

development to local developer  
Edge Holdings; and

• Lot 204 Hay Street was released for sale 
in April 2016. 

Earthworks, landscaping and streetscape 
upgrades were undertaken within the 
Carter Lane precinct and development 
approval was provided for two mixed-use 
allotments.   The City of Subiaco officially 
opened the precinct – including the public 
open space and artwork by WA artist 
Geoffrey Drake Brockman – in May 2016. 

A four-storey development on the corner 
of Station and Hood streets comprising 
basement parking, a supermarket, 
department store, retail and office 
commenced construction.  

SUBI CENTRO:  
OLD MEETS NEW

Lot 204 is poised for a new mixed use development
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PROJECT LIFE STATISTICS  
AT A GLANCE

SIGNIFICANT ISSUES  
IMPACTING THE AGENCY

Note: Figures are as per the approved 2016-17 State Budget. 
* This includes MRA and other government investment.  
** Inclusive of Developer Contribution Scheme

Project Total Land Government Investment ($) Investment Attraction ($) Total

Elizabeth Quay 10ha  $440million $2.2billion $2.64billion

Perth City Link 13.5ha  $1.39billion* $4billion $5.39billion

Riverside 40ha $142.8million $2billion $2.14billion

Perth Cultural Centre 8.5ha $508million* - $508million

Claisebrook Village 137.5ha $127million $685millon $812million

New Northbridge 27ha $60million $300million $360million

East Perth Power Station 8.5ha $100million $345million $445million

Midland 161ha $490million* $4.7billion $5.19billion

Armadale 465ha $165million** $477million $642million

Wungong Urban 1,580ha $265million** $750million $1billion

Scarborough 100ha $75.4million* - $75.4million

Subi Centro 84.5ha $200million* $1billion $1.2billion

TOTAL 2635.5ha $3.95billion $16.45billion $20.3billion

Global economic trends are exerting 
external pressure for Australia, and 
particularly Western Australia, to 
adjust to a slowing global demand for 
natural resources.  Plunging resource 
prices over the past two years have 
also challenged the MRA’s delivery of 
social, environmental and economic 
outcomes.

T
he implications of the economic 
slowdown for Perth’s commercial/
office market, declining business 
investments, cost cutting programs 
and the completion of major 

developments has led to an oversupply 
of commercial floor space in Perth’s CBD.  
Vacancy rates are expected to recover from 
2017 onwards following a projected peak of 
just over 20% in 2016 however some older 
commercial properties may still struggle in 
attracting new tenants. Perth’s hotel market 
remains healthy recording the third highest 
occupancy rate and second highest room 
rate nationally. These trends in the property 
market have been important considerations 
this year for the MRA in positioning current 
and future land releases to maximise 
benefits for the State.

Long-term forecasts suggest the population 
of the Perth and Peel metropolitan region  
will reach 3.5 million people by 20501 
and such growth demands a pipeline 
of development to meet housing, hotel, 
commercial and retail accommodation 
needs as well as ensure provision 
of adequate community and social 
infrastructure.  Infill development, 
concentrated public transport and activity 
centres and major employment precincts 
will increasingly be required to service the 
growing population and address increasing 
congestion. The State Government has 
a residential infill development density 
target at 47 per cent by 20502 and with the 
current achievement rate at 31 per cent3, 
the MRA continues to be responsive and 
forward thinking when assessing the needs 
of the Perth metropolitan population.  

Housing affordability remains a key 
community concern. With a unique set of 
planning and development powers, the 
MRA can make use of development policies 
and sales contracts to integrate the supply 
of affordable housing options throughout 
MRA redevelopment areas and help 
contribute to the State Affordable Housing 
Strategy. This is, however, not without its 
challenges particularly in finding industry 
and community delivery partners.  

Western Australia is transitioning from a 
resources dominated economy to a more 
diversified industry base. This transition is 
protracted and is having a deeper impact 
than expected with the State’s anticipated 
economic growth predicted to moderate 
from 3.5% in 2014 –15 to 1.25% in 2016 –17 
before increasing gradually to a peak of 
3% by 2019 –205.   The MRA is generating 
investment and employment among a 
diverse range of sectors from planning and 
construction to small business, service and 
creative industries to assist in broadening 
the State’s economy and creating new job 
opportunities6.

Despite the relatively robust regulation 
and supervision underpinning Australia’s 
banking system, tightened loan structures 
and policies facing the national investment 
market impact investment attraction and 
demand resilience and flexibility to respond 
to these market challenges. 

Diversifying approaches, and working 
collaboratively with the private sector, 
has and will underpin the MRA’s 
solutions-focused approach in these 
challenging times, enabling the MRA to 
drive infrastructure and development 
projects on behalf of the State 
Government, while creating a dynamic, 

vibrant and liveable city.  The MRA has 
also continued to deliver a high level 
of sophistication and innovation in 
its operations, demonstrating a good 
understanding of the benefits of urban 
renewal and increased urban density, and 
an increased focus on the social return 
on investments.  Innovation and initiative 
continue to be essential in a contracted 
economic environment. 

In 2015-16 the Department of Premier 
and Cabinet released the draft Perth and 
Peel Green Growth Plan for 3.5 million, 
a comprehensive strategy that seeks to 
balance environmental protection and 
land use planning to ensure long-term 
benefits for the Perth and Peel region.  
The MRA supports the strategy and 
aims to create both efficient and liveable 
cities that capitalise and preserve Perth’s 
unique natural assets and heritage 
values.  Protecting waterways, natural 
resources and cultural and heritage 
assets is underpinned by a planning and 
development approach that continues 
to deliver social, environmental and 
economic outcomes to the people of 
Western Australia. 

1, 2: Perth and Peel@3.5million:  What will Perth and Peel look like in 2050? Western Australian Planning Commission, May 2015, planning.wa.gov.au/dop_pub_pdf/pp_summary.pdf  
3: Urban Growth Monitor planning.wa.gov.au/dop_pub_pdf/Urban_Growth_Monitor_7_Exec_Summary.pdf 5, 6: static.ourstatebudget.wa.gov.au/16-17/factsheets/2016-17-fact-sheet-set.pdf?
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ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE BOARD AND COMMITTEES

Mr Richard Muirhead, 
Chairperson 

Mr Richard Muirhead 
is the Chairperson 
of the MRA 
Board and is the 
Principal of Spiral 
Consulting which 
he has operated 
since January 

2012. Over that period, Mr Muirhead has 
worked for a range of both corporate and 
government clients on different projects.  
He was contracted into the role of State 
Director National Commemorative Events 
in which he developed and managed 
the WA Government’s contribution to 
the ANZAC Centenary. Mr Muirhead has 
extensive experience as an executive 
and chief executive officer for the WA 
Government.  From July 2010 to November 
2011, Mr Muirhead was the State Director 
for Commonwealth Heads of Government 
Meeting (CHOGM) assisting the 
Commonwealth in staging the international 
event and developing initiatives to promote 
Western Australia, assist local business and 
encourage community participation. Prior 
to CHOGM, Mr Muirhead held the position 
of Chief Executive Officer of Tourism WA for 
eight years and the (former) Department of 
Commerce and Trade from 1997 to 2001. He 
has been the Chairperson of the MRA since 
January 2013 and has been appointed as 
Chairperson of Venues West from July 2015.

Mr Jeff Dowling,  
Deputy Chairperson

Mr Jeff Dowling is 
Deputy Chairperson 
of the MRA Board 
and Chairperson 
of the MRA’s Audit 
and Risk Committee 
and Subiaco Land 
Redevelopment 

Committee. A retired managing partner 
of the Ernst & Young Western Region 
and highly experienced corporate leader 
with 36 years’ experience in professional 
consultancy Mr Dowling has held 
numerous leadership positions at Ernst & 
Young and his expertise centres around 
audit, risk and financial transactions. Mr 
Dowling is a Fellow of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors, the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants 
Australia and the Financial Services 
Institute of Australasia. Mr Dowling holds a 
directorship of S2 Resources and NRW Ltd. 
Mr Dowling also holds a board position 
for the Telethon Institute for Child Health 
Research.

Minister for Planning

Board

Chief Executive Officer

Audit and Risk CommitteeArmadale Land  
Redevelopment Committee

Central Perth Land 
Redevelopment Committee

Midland Land  
Redevelopment Committee

Scarborough Land 
Redevelopment Committee

Subiaco Land  
Redevelopment Committee

Executive Director 
Planning

Executive Director 
Project Delivery

Executive Director  
Place Management

Executive Director 
Corporate Services

Program Director 
Armadale

The organisational chart  
at right represents the MRA’s 
reporting structure.

The Board comprises seven members, each appointed by the Minister for Planning 
for a term no longer than three years. Members are eligible for reappointment.  The 
Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority Act 2011 requires that, of the seven Board 
members:

• one is to be an appointed member of the board of management of the Western 
Australian Planning Commission (WAPC) nominated by the WAPC; and

• one is to be a person who in the opinion of the Minister has knowledge of or experience 
in local government; and

• each of the others is to be a person who in the opinion of the Minister has relevant 
qualifications.

A relevant qualification is knowledge of, and experience in, one or more of the fields of 
urban planning, business management, property development, financial management, 
engineering, transport, housing, tourism development, planning law or community affairs. 
Board members are remunerated according to the Public Sector Commission guidelines. 
Those members who are public servants are not remunerated. 

In 2015-16, a total of 16 Board meetings were held.

BOARD
As a Statutory Authority of the State Government of Western Australia, the 
MRA is governed by a board appointed by and answerable to the Minister for 
Planning. The MRA Board sets the strategic direction of the MRA and monitors 
its performance. The Board’s key functions are strategy, monitoring, risk 
management and compliance.
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Mr Charles Johnson,  
Board Member

Mr Charles Johnson 
is a member of 
the MRA Board, 
Chairperson of the 
MRA’s Central Perth 
Land Redevelopment 
Committee 
and was the 

former Chairperson of the Armadale 
Redevelopment Authority. He has a 
background in urban geography and town 
planning, with over 30 years’ experience 
working in Local and State Government 
as well as a period in private consultancy.  
Mr Johnson is currently the principal of 
his planning consultancy, President of 
the Planning Institute of Australia (WA 
Division) and Presiding Member of the 
Joint Central Metropolitan Development 
Assessment Panel.

Ms Fiona Kalaf,  
Board Member

Ms Fiona Kalaf 
is a member of 
the MRA Board 
and Chairperson 
of the MRA’s 
Scarborough Land 
Redevelopment 
Committee. 

Ms Kalaf has wide-ranging business 
experience, working in senior executive 
positions for high profile organisations 
in Western Australia, and currently 
holds the position of Chief Executive 
Officer of Youth Focus.  Ms Kalaf also 
has considerable board and committee 
experience, including her current role 
as Director of Australian Institute of 
Management WA and previous roles with 
the Central Perth Planning Committee, the 
Chairperson of the Art Gallery of Western 
Australia, the UWA Advisory Board to 
the Lawrence Wilson Art Gallery and the 
Australasian Institute of Banking and 
Finance.

Mayor Carol Adams,  
Board Member

Mayor Carol Adams 
is a member of 
the MRA Board 
and previously 
Chairperson 
of the MRA’s 
Armadale Land 
Redevelopment 

Committee.  Elected as a Councillor to 
the Town of Kwinana in May 1997, Mayor 
Adams served as Deputy from 2005-2006 
before being elected as the first female 
Mayor to the Town in May 2006 where she 
has successfully held this position since 
that time with her current term expiring 
in 2017. Mayor Adams is a member of 
the South West Metropolitan Zone and a 
WALGA State Council delegate. In addition, 
she is the metropolitan member for the WA 
Grants Commission, Board member of the 
Kwinana Early Years’ Service Inc Gilmore 
College Independent School, Moorditj Koort 
Aboriginal Corporation, and Citizen Advice 
Bureau Kwinana Branch. 

Mr Nick Bruining,  
Board Member 

Mr Nick Bruining 
is a member of 
the MRA Board, 
Chairperson of the 
MRA’s Midland Land 
Redevelopment 
Committee, and 
a member of 

the MRA Audit and Risk Committee. Mr 
Bruining is the Principal of N.C. Bruining 
& Associates.  Also a freelance journalist, 
commentator and broadcaster, Mr Bruining 
is a former director of the Financial Planning 
Association of Australia Ltd.

BOARD  
AND COMMITTEES

BOARD REMUNERATION Meetings held in 2015-16 year: 16

Position
Members as at  

30 June 2016
Meetings  
attended

Type of  
Remuneration

Period of  
Membership

Actual  
Remuneration

Chairperson Mr Richard Muirhead 16 Per Annum Expiry 31 December 2018 $53,550.00

Deputy Chairperson Mr Jeff Dowling 14 Per Annum Expiry 31 December 2017 $40,163.00

Member Mr Charles Johnson 12 Per Annum Expiry 31 December 2016 $33,650.00

Member Ms Fiona Kalaf 12 Per Annum Expiry 31 December 2016 $33,650.00

Member Mayor Carol Adams 14 Per Annum Expiry 31 December 2016 $33,650.00

Member Mr Nick Bruining 12 Per Annum Expiry 31 December 2018 $33,650.00

Member Mr Eric Lumsden 12 Per Annum Expiry 31 December 2016 $33,650.00

Mr Eric Lumsden,  
Board Member

Mr Eric Lumsden is a 
member of the MRA 
Board, Chairperson 
of the Armadale 
Land Redevelopment 
Committee and 
a member of the 
MRA Audit and Risk 

Committee.  Mr Lumsden is currently the 
Chairperson of the Western Australian Planning 
Commission with his previous position being 
Director General of the Department of Planning.  
With more than 30 years’ experience in local 
government, Mr Lumsden has previously held 
positions as Chief Executive Officer of the City 
of Melville and City of Swan, Commissioner of 
the City of South Perth and Chairperson of the 
Council of Swan TAFE and Eastern Metropolitan 
Regional Councils CEO Group.  Mr Lumsden 
is a Life Fellow of the Planning Institute of 
Australia, Fellow of the Australian Institute of 
Management, Fellow and past President of the 
Local Government Managers Association (WA 
Division) and a Fellow of the IPAAWA. In 2005, 
Mr Lumsden was awarded the Public Service 
Medal for his contribution to Local Government 
and a place on the Queen’s Birthday Honours 
List. In March 2015, Mr Lumsden was awarded 
the Dr Ken Michael Gold Medal Award 
in recognition of his contribution to Local 
Government and its members of the Institute of 
Public Works and Engineering. 
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BOARD  
AND COMMITTEES

Land Redevelopment Committees
Land Redevelopment Committees have been established for each redevelopment area to 
enable community and local government involvement in the development and delivery 
of urban renewal projects.  The five committees - one each for Armadale, Central Perth, 
Midland, Scarborough and Subiaco - have planning powers delegated by the MRA Board and 
provide advice on local matters. The Act provides that a Land Redevelopment Committee 
(LRC) consists of five members appointed by the Minister of whom:

• one is to be a member of the MRA’s Board of management, nominated  
by the MRA;

• one is to be a person nominated in accordance with section 81 of the Act; and

• each of the others is to be a person who in the opinion of the Minister,  
has relevant qualifications.

A relevant qualification is knowledge of, and experience in, one or more of the fields of urban 
planning, business management, property development, financial management, engineering, 
transport, housing and community affairs. Members of LRC’s are appointed for a term no 
longer than two years and may be reappointed.

ARMADALE LAND REDEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE REMUNERATION  Meetings held in 2015-16 year: 5

 
Position

Members as at  
30 June 2016

Meetings  
attended

Type of  
Remuneration

Period of  
Membership

Actual  
Remuneration

Chairperson Mr Eric Lumsden 2 Per Meeting Expiry 31 Dec 2016 $800

Deputy 
Chairperson

Mr Clayton Higham 4 Per Meeting Expiry 26 Aug 2017 $1200

Member Mr Matthew Handcock 5 Per Meeting Expiry 10 Mar 2018 $1350

Member Cr Donna Shaw 3 Per Meeting Expiry 31 Dec 2017 $810

Member Ms Diana Wearing-Smith 5 Per Meeting Expiry 19 May 2018 $1350

 
Position

Former Members Meetings  
attended

Type of  
Remuneration

Period of  
Membership

Actual  
 Remuneration

Chairperson Mayor Carol Adams 3 Per Meeting Expired 31 Dec 2015 $1200

Member Mayor Henry Zelones 0 Per Meeting Expired 7 Aug 2015 Nil

* Mr Eric Lumsden and Cr Donna Shaw attendance of the Land Redevelopment Committee Induction has been included 
in their remuneration.

CENTRAL PERTH LAND REDEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE REMUNERATION  Meetings held in 2015-16 year: 6

 
Position

Members as at  
30 June 2016

Meetings  
attended

Type of  
Remuneration

Period of  
Membership

Actual  
Remuneration

Chairperson Mr Charles Johnson 6 Per Meeting Expiry 27 May 2017 $2400

Deputy 
Chairperson

Mr Lino Iacomella 6 Per Meeting Expiry 26 Aug  2017 $1800

Member Lord Mayor Lisa Scaffidi 4 Per Meeting Expiry 10 Mar 2018 $1080

Member Prof. Geoffrey London 5 Per Meeting Expiry 27 May 2017 $1350

Member Ms Jennifer Duffecy 5 Per Meeting Expiry 27 May 2017 $1350

MIDLAND LAND REDEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE REMUNERATION  Meetings held in 2015-16 year: 5

 
Position

Members as at  
30 June 2016

Meetings  
attended

Type of  
Remuneration

Period of  
Membership

Actual  
Remuneration

Chairperson Mr Nicholas Bruining 5 Per Meeting Expiry 26 Aug 2017 $2000

Deputy 
Chairperson

Mr Clayton Higham 4 Per Meeting Expiry 26 Aug 2017 $1200

Member Mr Brian Hunt 4 Per Meeting Expiry 10 Mar 2018 $1080

Member Cr Daniel Parasiliti 4 Per Meeting Expiry 21 Dec  2017 $1080

Member Ms Justine Colyer 3 Per Meeting Expiry 1 May 2017 $810

 
Position

Former  
Members

Meetings  
attended

Type of  
Remuneration

Period of  
Membership

Actual  
Remuneration

Member Mayor Charlie Zannino 1 Per Meeting Expired 26 Aug 2015 $270

* Cr Daniel Parasilti attended a Land Redevelopment Committee Induction and Accountable and Ethical Decision 
Making Training, as well as two normal Committee meetings.

COMMITTEES
Audit and Risk Committee
The MRA Board has an Audit and Risk Committee that addresses issues particular to the 
roles and responsibilities assigned by the Board to the Committee. Principally, these relate 
to financial and risk issues that present for the MRA. 

Audit and Risk Committee members are not remunerated.  

In 2015-16, five Audit and Risk Committee meetings were held, including a Special Audit 
and Risk Committee meeting. 

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE Meetings held in 2015-16 year: 5
Position Members as at 30 June 2016 Meetings attended

Chairperson Mr Jeff Dowling 4

Member Mr Eric Lumsden 4

Member Mr Nick Bruining 5

SCARBOROUGH LAND REDEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE REMUNERATION  Meetings held in 2015-16 year: 5

Position Members as at  
30 June 2016

Meetings  
attended

Type of  
Remuneration

Period of  
Membership

Actual  
Remuneration

Chairperson Ms Fiona Kalaf 4 Per Meeting Expiry 26 Aug 2017 $1600

Deputy 
Chairperson

Ms Stephanie Buckland* 3 Per Meeting Expiry 26 Aug 2017 Nil

Member Cr David Boothman 4 Per Meeting Expiry 26 Aug 2017 $1080

Member Mr David Thomson* 5 Per Meeting Expiry 26 Aug 2017 Nil

Member Mr James Hewitt 4 Per Meeting Expiry 26 Aug 2017 $1080

* As per Premiers Circular 2010/02, Ms Stephanie Buckland and Mr David Thomson are not eligible for remuneration.

SUBIACO LAND REDEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE REMUNERATION Meetings held in 2015-16 year: 2

Position Members as at  
30 June 2016

Meetings  
attended

Type of  
Remuneration

Period of  
Membership

Actual  
Remuneration

Chairperson Mr Jeff Dowling 2 Per Meeting Expiry 27 May 2017 $800

Deputy 
Chairperson

Ms Karen Hyde 2 Per Meeting Expiry 10 Mar 2018 $600

Member Cr Mark Burns 2 Per Meeting Expiry 10 Mar 2018 $540

Member Mr Loren White 2 Per Meeting Expiry 10 Mar 2018 $540

Member Mr David Hartree 2 Per Meeting Expiry 10 Mar 2018 $540
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PERFORMANCE 
MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

In accordance with section 109(2) 
of the Act and subject to the control 
of the MRA’s Board of management, 
the Chief Executive Officer(CEO) 
administers the day to day operations 
of the MRA.

Mr Kieran Kinsella,  
Chief Executive Officer
Mr Kieran Kinsella has more than 25 years’ 
senior management experience in both 
Federal and State Government public 
services in a wide range of disciplines 
including urban renewal, statutory planning, 
economic and community development, 
strategic and regional planning, regional 
development and employment and training.  
He has been CEO of the MRA since June 
2012, having previously led the revitalisation 
of Midland as CEO of the Midland 
Redevelopment Authority from May 2000 to 
December 2011.

The MRA’s organisational structure has four 
divisions – Planning, Project Delivery, Place 
Management and Corporate Services – with 
each managed by an Executive Director. 
Working together, each division contributes 
to the delivery of redevelopment projects of 
strategic significance that are changing the 
way people interact with metropolitan Perth. 

Planning 
The Planning division consists of three 
directorates: Urban Design, Innovation 
and Strategy, and Statutory Planning and 
is led by Ryan Keys.  Focusing on policy, 
planning and design, research initiatives 
and best practices, the Planning Division 
encourages sustainable and innovative 
urban redevelopment.

Project Delivery 
The Project Delivery division is led by Sean 
Henriques and consists of two directorates: 
Project Delivery and Capital Transactions. 
Focusing on the strategic direction, 
leadership and delivery of major and State 
significant projects, the Project Delivery 
division implements sales strategies, sales 
release processes and product positioning 
and investment attraction activities across 
the MRA’s redevelopment areas. 

Place Management
The Place Management division is made 
up of three directorates: Place Activation, 
Communications and Commercial 
Operations and is led by Veronica Jeffery. 
Creating dynamic communities where 
people want to live, work and play, the Place 
Activation division delivers meaningful and 

engaging communications, spaces and 
events while also ensuring diligent asset 
management for the MRA. 

Corporate Services
The Corporate Services division is led 
by Mark Reutens and is made up of 
four directorates: Finance and Treasury, 
Procurement and Contracts, Business 
Services, and Legal and Governance 
Services. By continually encouraging 
business improvements and efficiencies, 
the Corporate Services division provides 
support to the whole of the organisation 
with specialised professional knowledge.

Administered Legislation
The MRA administers the Metropolitan 
Redevelopment Authority Act 2011 along 
with the subsidiary legislative Metropolitan 
Redevelopment Authority Regulations 2011.

Other Key Legislation Impacting  
on MRA Activities
• Auditor General Act 2006
• Building Act 2011
• Competition and Consumer Act 2010
• Construction Contracts Act 2004
• Contaminated Sites Act 2003
• Disability Services Act 1993
• Disability Discrimination Act 1992
• Environmental Protection Act 1986
• Environment Protection and Biodiversity 

Conservation Act 1999
• Equal Opportunity Act 1984
• Financial Management Act 2006
• Freedom of Information Act 1992
• Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990
• Industrial Relations Act 1979
• Land Administration Act 1997
• Local Government (Miscellaneous 

Provisions) Act 1960
• Main Roads Act 1930
• Occupational Health and Safety Act 1984
• Planning and Development Act 2005
• Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003
• Public Sector Management Act 1994
• Racial Discrimination Act 1975
• State Records Act 2000
• State Superannuation Act 2000
• State Supply Commission Act 1991
• Statutory Corporations (Liability of 

Directors) Act 1996
• Swan and Canning Rivers Management 

Act 2006
• Trade Marks Act 1995
• Transfer of Land Act 1893
• Workers Compensation and Injury 

Management Act 1981

EXECUTIVE 
MANAGEMENT

The Western Australian Government has five goals that guide the development of policies, programs and services within its agencies. The MRA supports these 
State Government Goals through its Redevelopment Area Objectives and Corporate Objectives and their associated Key Performance Indicators.

State Government Goals

State Building -  
Major Projects 
Building strategic 

infrastructure that will 
create jobs and underpin 

Western Australia’s 
long-term economic 

development.

Financial and Economic 
Responsibility 

Responsibly managing the 
State’s finances through the 

efficient and effective delivery of 
services, encouraging economic 
activity and reducing regulatory 
burdens on the private sector.

Outcomes Based 
Services Delivery 

Greater focus on achieving 
results in key service 

delivery areas for the benefit 
of all Western Australians.

Stronger Focus 
on Regions  

Greater focus on service 
delivery, infrastructure 

investment and economic 
development to improve 

the overall quality of life in 
remote and regional areas.

Social and Environmental 
Responsibility 

Ensuring that economic activity 
is managed in a socially and 
environmentally responsible 

manner for the long-term  
benefit of the State.

MRA REDEVELOPMENT AREA OBJECTIVES  

To build a Sense of Place in the redevelopment areas 
by supporting unique and high quality design, heritage 
protection, public art, and cultural activities that respond to 
Perth’s environment, climate and lifestyle.

✔ ✔

The MRA’s purpose 
is to deliver 

redevelopment project 
of strategic significant 
in metropolitan Perth, 
therefore this State 
Government Goal is  

not applicable.

✔

To promote Economic Wellbeing by supporting, where 
appropriate, development that facilitates investment and 
provides opportunity for local businesses and emerging 
industries to satisfy market demand.

✔ ✔ ✔ ✔

To promote Urban Efficiency through infrastructure and 
buildings, the mix of land use and facilitating a critical mass 
of population and employment.

✔ ✔

To enhance Connectivity and reduce the need to travel by 
supporting development aimed at well-designed places that 
support walking, cycling and public transit.

✔ ✔ ✔
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State Government Goals

State Building -  
Major Projects 
Building strategic 

infrastructure that will 
create jobs and underpin 

Western Australia’s 
long-term economic 

development.

Financial and Economic 
Responsibility 

Responsibly managing the 
State’s finances through the 

efficient and effective delivery of 
services, encouraging economic 
activity and reducing regulatory 
burdens on the private sector.

Outcomes Based 
Services Delivery 

Greater focus on achieving 
results in key service 

delivery areas for the benefit 
of all Western Australians.

Stronger Focus 
on Regions  

Greater focus on service 
delivery, infrastructure 

investment and economic 
development to improve 

the overall quality of life in 
remote and regional areas.

Social and Environmental 
Responsibility 

Ensuring that economic activity 
is managed in a socially and 
environmentally responsible 

manner for the long-term  
benefit of the State.

MRA REDEVELOPMENT AREA OBJECTIVES  

To promote Social Inclusion by encouraging, where 
appropriate, a diverse range of housing and by supporting 
community infrastructure, activities and opportunities for 
visitors and residents to socialise.

✔

The MRA’s purpose is to 
deliver redevelopment 

project of strategic 
significant in 

metropolitan Perth, 
therefore this State 
Government Goal is  

not applicable.

✔

To enhance Environmental Integrity by encouraging ecologically 
sustainable design, resource efficiency, recycling, renewable 
energy and protection of the local ecology.

✔ ✔

MRA CORPORATE OBJECTIVES  

To ensure Sound Financial Management by enhancing open, 
transparent and accountable governance that strengthens 
the MRA’s financial position, demonstrating effective asset 
stewardship and encouraging private sector investment.

✔

The MRA’s purpose 
is to deliver 

redevelopment project 
of strategic significant 
in metropolitan Perth, 
therefore this State 

Government Goal is not 
applicable.

To ensure Effective Stakeholder Relationships by identifying 
MRA key stakeholders, communicating success stories in 
innovative ways, ensuring meaningful engagement, and 
building partnerships that enable the MRA to achieve its 
objectives.

✔ ✔

To retain Motivated and Talented People by ensuring that 
a strong corporate culture is built through recruitment and 
retention of the best and the brightest, making the MRA an 
employer of choice.

✔

To achieve Business Efficiency by continually encouraging 
business improvements and regularly reviewing processes 
and procedures in search of best practice.

✔ ✔

PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK
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INDEPENDENT  
AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Parliament of Western Australia

METROPOLITAN REDEVELOPMENT 
AUTHORITY
Report on the Financial Statements
I have audited the accounts and 
financial statements of the Metropolitan 
Redevelopment Authority.

The financial statements comprise the 
Statement of Financial Position as at 30 
June 2016, the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income, Statement of Changes in Equity and 
Statement of Cash Flows for the year then 
ended, and Notes comprising a summary 
of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information.

Opinion
In my opinion, the financial statements 
are based on proper accounts and present 
fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Metropolitan Redevelopment 
Authority at 30 June 2016 and its financial 
performance and cash flows for the year 
then ended. They are in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards and the 
Treasurer’s Instructions.

Board’s Responsibility for the  
Financial Statements
The Board is responsible for keeping proper 
accounts, and the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements 
in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards and the Treasurer’s Instructions, 
and for such internal control as the Board 
determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility for the Audit 
of the Financial Statements
As required by the Auditor General Act 
2006, my responsibility is to express 
an opinion on the financial statements 
based on my audit. The audit was 
conducted in accordance with Australian 
Auditing Standards. Those Standards 
require compliance with relevant ethical 
requirements relating to audit engagements 
and that the audit be planned and 
performed to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are 
free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures 
to obtain audit evidence about the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected 
depend on the auditor's judgement, 
including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. 
In making those risk assessments, the 
auditor considers internal control relevant 
to the Authority’s preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in 
order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances. An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriateness 
of the accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates 
made by the Board, as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the financial 
statements.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for my audit opinion.

Report on Controls
I have audited the controls exercised by 
the Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority 
during the year ended 30 June 2016.

Controls exercised by the Metropolitan 
Redevelopment Authority are those policies 

and procedures established by the Board 
to ensure that the receipt, expenditure and 
investment of money, the acquisition and 
disposal of property, and the incurring of 
liabilities have been in accordance with 
legislative provisions.

Opinion
In my opinion, in all material respects, the 
controls exercised by the Metropolitan 
Redevelopment Authority are sufficiently 
adequate to provide reasonable assurance 
that the receipt, expenditure and investment 
of money, the acquisition and disposal of 
property, and the incurring of liabilities 
have been in accordance with legislative 
provisions during the year ended 30 June 
2016.

Board’s Responsibility for Controls
The Board is responsible for maintaining 
an adequate system of internal control to 
ensure that the receipt, expenditure and 
investment of money, the acquisition and 
disposal of public and other property, and 
the incurring of liabilities are in accordance 
with the Financial Management Act 2006 
and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and other 
relevant written law.
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For the year ended 30 June 2016

The accompanying financial statements of the Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority have been prepared in compliance with the provisions of the Financial 
Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the financial year ended 30 June 2016 and the financial position 
as at 30 June 2016.

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

  

Richard Muirhead Jeff Dowling Kieran Kinsella  Mark Reutens
Chairperson Deputy Chairperson Chief Executive Officer  Chief Finance Officer

Date: 24 August 2016

CERTIFICATION  
OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit 
of Controls
As required by the Auditor General Act 
2006, my responsibility is to express an 
opinion on the controls exercised by the 
Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority 
based on my audit conducted in accordance 
with Australian Auditing and Assurance 
Standards.

An audit involves performing procedures to 
obtain audit evidence about the adequacy 
of controls to ensure that the Authority 
complies with the legislative provisions. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor's 
judgement and include an evaluation of 
the design and implementation of relevant 
controls.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for my audit opinion.

Report on the Key Performance 
Indicators
I have audited the key performance 
indicators of the Metropolitan 
Redevelopment Authority for the year 
ended 30 June 2016.

The key performance indicators are the 
key effectiveness indicators and the 
key efficiency indicators that provide 
information on outcome achievement and 
service provision.

Opinion
In my opinion, in all material respects, 
the key performance indicators of the 
Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority are 
relevant and appropriate to assist users to 
assess the Authority’s performance and 
fairly represent indicated performance for 
the year ended 30 June 2016.

Board’s Responsibility for the Key 
Performance Indicators
The Board is responsible for the preparation 
and fair presentation of the key performance 
indicators in accordance with the Financial 
Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s 
Instructions and for such controls as the 
Board determines necessary to ensure 
that the key performance indicators fairly 
represent indicated performance.

Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit 
of Key Performance Indicators
As required by the Auditor General Act 
2006, my responsibility is to express an 
opinion on the key performance indicators 
based on my audit conducted in accordance 
with Australian Auditing and Assurance 
Standards.

An audit involves performing procedures 
to obtain audit evidence about the key 
performance indicators. The procedures 
selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, 
including the assessment of the risks 
of material misstatement of the key 

performance indicators. In making these 
risk assessments the auditor considers 
internal control relevant to the Board's 
preparation and fair presentation of the key 
performance indicators in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances. An audit also 
includes evaluating the relevance and 
appropriateness of the key performance 
indicators for measuring the extent 
of outcome achievement and service 
provision.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for my audit opinion.

Independence
In conducting the above audits, I have 
complied with the independence 
requirements of the Auditor General Act 
2006 and Australian Auditing and Assurance 
Standards, and other relevant ethical 
requirements.

Matters Relating to the Electronic 
Publication of the Audited Financial 
Statements and Key Performance 
Indicators
This auditor’s report relates to the financial 
statements and key performance indicators 
of the Metropolitan Redevelopment 
Authority for the year ended 30 June 2016 
included on the Authority’s website. The 
Authority’s management is responsible 

for the integrity of the Authority’s website. 
This audit does not provide assurance on 
the integrity of the Authority’s website. 
The auditor’s report refers only to the 
financial statements and key performance 
indicators described above. It does not 
provide an opinion on any other information 
which may have been hyperlinked to/
from these financial statements or key 
performance indicators. If users of the 
financial statements and key performance 
indicators are concerned with the inherent 
risks arising from publication on a website, 
they are advised to refer to the hard copy 
of the audited financial statements and 
key performance indicators to confirm 
the information contained in this website 
version of the financial statements and key 
performance indicators.

COLIN MURPHY
AUDITOR GENERAL 
FOR WESTERN AUSTRALIA
Perth, Western Australia 
26 August 2016
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Note
2016 
$000

2015 
$000

Infrastructure Development Expense 10,615  1,074 
Fair Value Through Profit or Loss 4,207 -
Write Down of Inventory to Net Realisable Value 12 28,901  40,043 
TOTAL EXPENSES 149,165 106,878 
Net loss other than income from State Government (78,443) (22,767) 
Income from State Government
Resources Received Free of Charge 126  105 
Grants and Contributions from Other Government Agencies 10,231  2,581 
LOSS FOR THE PERIOD (68,086) (20,081)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Remeasurements of Defined Benefit Liability (113) (227) 
Changes in Asset Revaluation Reserve (401)  412 
Total Other Comprehensive Income (514)  185 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE PERIOD (68,600) (19,896) 
The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Note
2016 
$000

2015 
$000

INCOME
SALES INCOME
Sales 4 35,022  29,016 
Total Sales Income 35,022  29,016 
OTHER INCOME
Developer Contribution Fees (DCS) 16,888 7,040
Interest 5 1,507   (196)
Rental 2,508 1,954
Rechargeable Works 6,974 17,613
Other 6 7,823 6,386
Fair Value through profit or loss 16 - 22,297
Total Other Income 35,700 55,094
TOTAL INCOME 70,722 84,110 

EXPENSES
Cost of Goods Sold 4 28,388  3,827 
Employee Benefits 7 15,820  14,767 
Supplies and Services 8 9,346 10,914
Depreciation and Amortisation 9 4,011  1,802 
Developer Contribution Expenses 16,554  7,040 
Finance Costs 6,343  2,697 
Rechargeable Works 8,696 17,354
Other Expenses 10 2,338 1,018 
Property Maintenance 8,950  3,298 
Sales and Marketing 4,996  3,044 

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 30 June 2016
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Note
2016 
$000

2015 
$000

Non-Current Liabilities
Payables 21 3,629 2,122 
Borrowings 24 321,707 268,806 
Provisions 23 25,388 24,588 
Other Non-Current Liabilities 25 1,166 904 
Total Non-Current Liabilities 351,890 296,419 
TOTAL LIABILITIES 373,763 327,615 
NET ASSETS 260,598 266,198 
Contributed Equity
Contributed Equity contribution by owners 26 424,691 361,691 
Asset Revaluation Reserve                                              26 11 412 
Accumulated Losses 26 (164,103) (95,904)
 TOTAL EQUITY 260,598          266,198 
The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Note
2016 
$000

2015 
$000

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents 11 29,293 18,977 
Inventories 12 41,702 95,984 
Receivables 13 6,590 11,997 
Other Current Assets 14 506 335 
Total Current Assets 78,091 127,293 
Non-Current Assets
Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents                            11 23,426 11,753 
Inventories 12 273,320 384,947 
Receivables 13 8,312 10,014 
Property, Plant and Equipment 15 34,237 6,841 
Investment Properties 16 65,199 50,643 
Infrastructure 17 151,108 209
Intangible Assets 19 668 2,113 
Total Non-Current Assets 556,270 466,520 
TOTAL ASSETS 634,361 593,813

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables 21 16,557 27,103 
Income in Advance 22 2,465 159 
Provisions 23 2,851 3,934 
Total Current Liabilities 21,873 31,196 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
For the year ended 30 June 2016
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Note
2016 
$000

2015 
$000

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Receipts
Proceeds from borrowings 52,083 66,224 
Payments
Finance costs expensed (6,343) (1,751) 
Repayment of borrowings - (11,002) 
Net cash provided by / (used in) financing activities 45,740 53,471 

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Grants and subsidies 10,315 2,581 
Equity contribution 63,000 144,729 
Net cash provided by / (used in) State Government 73,315 147,310 

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 21,989 10,055 

Opening Cash Balance 30,730 20,675 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 27 52,719 30,730 
The Statement of Cashflows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Note
2016 
$000

2015 
$000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts
Interest received 1,303 40 
Other operating items 61,221 26,775 
Payments
Employee benefits (15,002) (13,404) 
GST payments to taxation authority (663) -
Payments to suppliers (38,342) (27,749) 
Net cash provided by / (used in) operating activities 27 8,517 (14,338) 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Receipts
Developer contribution fees (DCS) 15,956 7,040 
Payments
Payments for capital works (109,345) (181,708) 
Payments for capital assets (12,194) (1,720) 
Net cash provided by / (used in) investing activities (105,583) (176,388) 

STATEMENT OF CASHFLOWS
For the year ended 30 June 2016
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1.  Australian Accounting Standards 
 General

The Authority’s financial statements for 
the year ended 30 June 2016 have been 
prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards.  The term ‘Australian 
Accounting Standards’ includes Standards 
and Interpretations issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board (AASB). 
The Authority has adopted any applicable 
new and revised Australian Accounting 
Standards from their operative dates.

 Early adoption of standards
The Authority cannot early adopt an 
Australian Accounting Standard unless 
specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application 
of Australian Accounting Standards and 
Other Pronouncements.  There has been 
no early adoption of Australian Accounting 
Standards that have been issued or 
amended (but not operative) by the Authority 
for the annual reporting period ended 
30 June 2016.

2.1   Summary of significant accounting 
policies 

(a)  General statement
The Authority is a not-for-profit reporting 
entity that prepares general purpose 
financial statements in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards, the 
Framework, Statements of Accounting 
Concepts and other authoritative 
pronouncements of the AASB as applied 
by the Treasurer’s Instructions.  Several 
of these are modified by the Treasurer’s 
Instructions to vary application, disclosure, 
format and wording.

The Financial Management Act 2006 and the 
Treasurer’s Instructions impose legislative 
provisions that govern the preparation of 
financial statements and take precedence 
over Australian Accounting Standards, 
the Framework, Statements of Accounting 
Concepts and other authoritative 
pronouncements of the AASB.

Where modification is required and has 
had a material or significant financial effect 
upon the reported results, details of that 
modification and the resulting financial 
effect are disclosed in the notes to the 
financial statements.

(b)  Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been 
prepared on the accrual basis of accounting 
using the historical cost convention, except 
for land, buildings (including investment 
properties) and infrastructure which have 
been measured at fair value. The accounting 
policies adopted in the preparation in the 
financial statements have been consistently 
applied throughout all periods presented 
unless otherwise stated. The financial 
statements are presented in Australian 
dollars and all values are rounded to the 
nearest thousand dollars ($000).

Note 2.3 ‘Significant estimates and 
judgements’ discloses judgements that have 
been made in the process of applying the 
Authority’s accounting policies resulting 
in the most significant effect on amounts 
recognised in the financial statements. Note 
2.3 also discloses key assumptions made 
concerning the future and other key sources 
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the 
reporting period, that have a significant 
risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amount of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year.

(c)   Reporting entity
The reporting entity comprises the 
Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority.

(d)   Contributed equity
AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions 
by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public 
Sector Entities requires transfers in the 
nature of equity contributions, other than 
as a result of a restructure of administrative 
arrangements, to be designated by the 
Government (the owner) as contributions by 
owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer) 
before such transfers can be recognised as 
equity contributions.  Capital appropriations 
have been designated as contributions by 
owners by TI 955 Contributions by Owners 
made to Wholly Owned Public Sector 
Entities and have been credited directly to 
Contributed Equity.

The transfers of net assets to/from other 
agencies, other than as a result of a 
restructure of administrative arrangements, 
are designated as contributions by owners 
where the transfers are non-discretionary 
and non-reciprocal.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2016

Note
Contributed equity 

$000
Reserves 

$000
Accumulated surplus/(deficit) 

$000
Total equity 

$000
Balance at 1 July 2014 26 216,962 - (75,597) 141,365
Surplus/(deficit) - - (20,081) (20,081)
Other comprehensive income - 412 (227) 185 
Total comprehensive income for the period 216,962 412 (95,904) 121,469 
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
Capital appropriations 144,729 - - 144,729 
Total 144,729 - - 144,729 
Balance at 30 June 2015 26 361,691 412 (95,904) 266,198 
Balance at 1 July 2015 26 361,691 412 (95,904) 266,198
Surplus/(deficit) - - (68,086) (68,086)
Other comprehensive income - (401) (113) (514)
Total comprehensive income for the period 361,691 11 (164,103) 197,598
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
Capital appropriations 63,000 - - 63,000
Total 63,000 - - 63,000
Balance at 30 June 2016 26 424,691 11 (164,103) 260,598

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 30 June 2016
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(j)   Property, plant and equipment and 
infrastructure
Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Items of property, plant and equipment 
and infrastructure costing $5,000 or more 
are recognised as assets and the cost of 
utilising assets is expensed (depreciated) 
over their useful lives.  Items of property, 
plant and equipment and infrastructure 
costing less than $5,000 are expensed 
directly to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income (other than where they form part 
of a group of similar items which are 
significant in total).

Initial recognition and measurement
Property, plant and equipment and 
infrastructure are initially recognised 
at cost. For items of property, plant and 
equipment and infrastructure acquired at no 
cost or for nominal cost, the cost is the fair 
value at the date of acquisition.

Subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial recognition as an 
asset, the Authority uses the revaluation 
model for the measurement of land and 
buildings and historical cost for all other 
property, plant and equipment. Land and 
buildings are carried at fair value less 
accumulated depreciation (buildings only) 
and accumulated impairment losses. 
All other items of property, plant and 
equipment are stated at historical cost less 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses.

Where market based evidence is available, 
the fair value of land and buildings is 

determined on the basis of current market 
buying values determined by reference to 
recent market transactions. When buildings 
are revalued by reference to recent market 
transactions, the accumulated depreciation 
is eliminated against the gross carrying 
amount of the asset and the net amount 
restated to the revalued amount.

In the absence of market based evidence, 
the fair value of land and buildings is 
determined on the basis of existing use. 
This normally applies where buildings 
are specialised or where land use is 
restricted. Fair value for existing use assets 
is determined by reference to the cost of 
replacing the remaining future economic 
benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the 
depreciated replacement cost. Where the 
fair value of buildings is determined on the 
depreciated replacement cost basis, the 
gross carrying amount and the accumulated 
depreciation are restated proportionately.

Land and buildings are independently 
valued annually by an external valuer and 
recognised annually to ensure that the 
carrying amount does not differ materially 
from the asset’s fair value at the end of the 
reporting period.

Derecognition
Upon disposal or derecognition of an 
item of property, plant and equipment and 
infrastructure, any revaluation surplus 
relating to that asset is retained in the asset 
revaluation surplus.

Asset revaluation surplus
The asset revaluation surplus is used to 
record increments and decrements on 
the revaluation of non current assets on 
a class of assets basis, as described in 
note 15 ‘Property, plant and equipment’. 

Depreciation
All non current assets having a limited 
useful life are systematically depreciated 
over their estimated useful lives in a manner 
that reflects the consumption of their 
future economic benefits. Depreciation is 
calculated using the straight line method, 
using rates which are reviewed annually.  
Estimated useful lives for each class of 
depreciable asset are:

Buildings 40 years
Plant and equipment 3-10 years
Computer equipment 3-10 years
Infrastructure 22-50 years
Land and Artworks are not depreciated

Works of art controlled by the Authority 
are classified as property, plant and 
equipment.  These are anticipated to 
have indefinite useful lives.  Their service 
potential has not, in any material sense, 
been consumed during the reporting period 
and consequently no depreciation has been 
recognised.

(k)  Impairment of assets
Property, plant and equipment, 
infrastructure and intangible assets are 
tested for any indication of impairment at the 
end of each reporting period. Where there is 
an indication of impairment, the recoverable 
amount is estimated. Where the recoverable 
amount is less than the carrying amount, 
the asset is considered impaired and is 
written down to the recoverable amount 
and an impairment loss is recognised. As 
the Authority is a not‐for‐profit entity, unless 
an asset has been identified as a surplus 
asset, the recoverable amount is the higher 
of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and 
depreciated replacement cost.

The risk of impairment is generally limited 
to circumstances where an asset’s 
depreciation is materially understated, 
where the replacement cost is falling or 
where there is a significant change in 
useful life. Each relevant class of assets 
is reviewed annually to verify that the 
accumulated depreciation / amortisation 
reflects the level of consumption or 
expiration of asset’s future economic 
benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk 
from falling replacement costs.

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful 
life and intangible assets not yet available 
for use are tested for impairment at the 
end of each reporting period irrespective 
of whether there is any indication of 
impairment. The recoverable amount of 
assets identified as surplus assets is the 
higher of fair value less costs to sell and the 
present value of future cash flows expected 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2016

2.1   Summary of significant accounting 
policies (cont.)

(e)   Income
Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised and measured at 
the fair value of consideration received or 
receivable.  Revenue is recognised for the 
major business activities as follows:

Sale of land
It is the Authority’s practice to recognise 
the sale of land when the significant risks 
and returns have been transferred to the 
buyer, which is normally on settlement 
of the transaction and transfer of legal 
title. For conditional exchanges, sales are 
recognised only when all the significant 
conditions are satisfied. If part of the 
purchase price has been deferred, the sale 
may be recognised before the purchase 
price is settled and notional interest 
recognised on the deferred payment.

It is the Authority’s practice to maintain an 
option to repurchase land if the purchaser 
breaches any covenants in relation to the 
future development of the land.

Sale of goods (other than land)
Revenue is recognised from the sale of 
goods when the significant risks and 
rewards of ownership transfer to the 
purchaser and can be measured reliably.

Provision of services
Revenue is recognised by reference to the 
stage of completion of the transaction.

Service appropriations
Service appropriations are recognised 
as revenues at fair value in the period in 
which the Authority gains control of the 
appropriated funds, which is at the time 
those funds are deposited to the Authority’s 
bank account.

Rental income
Rental income arising on investment 
properties is accounted for on a straight‐
line basis over the lease term and is 
recognised as income in the periods in 
which it is earned. Incentives representing 
rental free periods or reduced rentals are 
accounted for in accordance with the rental 
income policy whereby rental income from 
investment properties is accounted for on 
a straight line basis over the lease term. If 
not received at the reporting date, revenue 
is reflected in the statement of financial 
position as a receivable and carried at 
fair value. Contingent rental income is 
recognised as income in the periods in 
which it is earned.

Interest
Revenue is recognised as the interest 
accrues.

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-
reciprocal contributions
Contributions are only recognised as 
revenue when they do not represent 
contributions by owners. Revenue is 
recognised at fair value when the Authority 
obtains control over the assets comprising 
the contributions. If the contributions 
are in the form of cash, control is usually 
obtained when cash is received. If the 
contributions are in the form of land or 
buildings, control is usually obtained when 
settlement of the acquisition occurs and title 
is transferred. Contributions of services are 
only recognised when a fair value can be 
reliably determined and the services would 
be purchased if not donated.

(f)  Developer Contribution Scheme
Developer Contribution Scheme (DCS) 
revenues are recognised when developers 
obtain clearance on title(s) for land held 
within the DCS area. Developer contribution 
expenses representing costs incurred 
in realising the DCS revenues are also 
recognised at this point.

(g)  Gains
Realised and unrealised gains are usually 
recognised on a net basis. These include 
gains arising on the disposal of non‐current 
assets and some revaluations of non‐current 
assets.

(h)  Cost of sales
The Authority recognises as inventory all 
of the costs which have been incurred 
in bringing developed land to a condition 
ready for sale. Such costs are typically 
accumulated on a project by project basis. 
The Authority allocates development costs 
to individual lots within the project on a 
rational and consistent basis given the 
specific circumstances of the project.

(i)   Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs for qualifying assets 
(inventories) are capitalised net of 
any investment income earned on the 
unexpended portion of the borrowings.  
Other borrowing costs are expensed when 
incurred. The capitalisation rate used to 
determine the amount of borrowing costs 
to be capitalised is the weighted average 
interest rate applicable to the Authority’s 
outstanding borrowings during the year.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2016
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cost or the face value because there is no 
interest rate applicable and subsequent 
measurement is not required as the effect of 
discounting is not material.

(p)   Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the Statement of Cash 
Flows, cash and cash equivalent (and 
restricted cash and cash equivalent) assets 
comprise cash on hand and short-term 
deposits with original maturities of three 
months or less that are readily convertible 
to a known amount of cash and which are 
subject to insignificant risk of changes in 
value.

(q)   Receivables
Receivables are recognised at original 
invoice amount less an allowance for any 
uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment).  The 
collectability of receivables is reviewed 
on an ongoing basis and any receivables 
identified as uncollectible are written-
off against the allowance account.  The 
allowance for uncollectible amounts 
(doubtful debts) is raised when there is 
objective evidence that the Authority will not 
be able to collect the debts.  The carrying 
amount is equivalent to fair value as it is due 
for settlement within 30 days.

(r)   Inventories
All land and buildings and capital works held 
for development and subsequent sale are 
regarded as inventory and are classified as 
such in the Statement of Financial Position. 
Development expenditure is capitalised with 
reference to the stage of completion of the 
project.

The Authority recognises as inventory all 
of the costs which have been incurred 
in bringing developed land to a condition 
ready for sale. Such costs are typically 
accumulated on a project by project basis. 
The Authority allocates development costs 
to individual lots within the project on a 
rational and consistent basis given the 
specific circumstances of the project. 

Land held for development and subsequent 
sale is classified as a current asset when 
development is completed and sales are 
expected to result in realisation of settled 
sales within twelve months based on 
management’s sales forecasts. Inventories 
are valued at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value. Net realisable value is 
the estimated selling price in the ordinary 
course of business, less estimated 
costs of completion and, if appropriate, 
the estimated costs of making the sale.  
Cost includes the costs of acquisition 
development, holding and borrowing costs 
incurred during development. 

When development is completed, holding 
and borrowing charges are expensed as 
incurred. Holding and borrowing costs 
are also expensed if active development 
is interrupted for extended periods. 

Acquisition costs typically include legal 
and professional fees, and valuation fees. 
Development costs typically include the 
costs of planning, community consultation, 
surveying, quantity surveying, engineering 
and project management including, 
where applicable, remediation cost for 
contamination. Development costs also 
include an allocation of internal employee 
benefit costs directly associated with 
bringing the land under development to 
saleable condition. Holding costs include 
rates and taxes, service charges including 
insurance premiums, security fees and 
repairs and maintenance. Rental income 
received from tenants while land is under 
development is treated as a reduction 
in holding costs. Borrowing costs are 
costs such as interest, line fees and legal 
expenses that would have been avoided 
if the expenditure on the acquisition and 
development of the land had not been made.

(s)   Payables
Payables are recognised at the amounts 
payable when the Authority becomes 
obliged to make future payments as a result 
of a purchase of assets or services.  The 
carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, 
as settlement is generally within 30 days.

(t)   Accrued salaries
Accrued salaries represent the amount 
due to staff but unpaid at the end of the 
financial period, as the pay date for the last 
pay period for that financial period does 
not coincide with the end of the financial 
period. Accrued salaries are settled within 
a fortnight of the financial period end. The 

Authority considers the carrying amount of 
accrued salaries to be equivalent to its fair 
value.

(u)   Provisions
Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing 
or amount and are recognised where there 
is a present legal or constructive obligation 
as a result of a past event and when the 
outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits is probable and a reliable estimate 
can be made of the amount of the obligation.  
Provisions are reviewed at the end of each 
reporting period.

Employee benefits – Superannuation
The Government Employees Superannuation 
Board (GESB) and other fund providers 
administer public sector superannuation 
arrangements in Western Australia in 
accordance with legislative requirements. 
Eligibility criteria for membership 
in particular schemes for public 
sector employees vary according to 
commencement and implementation dates. 
Eligible employees contribute to the Pension 
Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme 
closed to new members since 1987, or the 
Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a 
defined benefit lump sum scheme closed to 
new members since 1995.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2016

2.1   Summary of significant accounting 
policies (cont.)
to be derived from the asset. Surplus assets 
carried at fair value have no risk of material 
impairment where fair value is determined 
by reference to market‐based evidence. 
Where fair value is determined by reference 
to depreciated replacement cost, surplus 
assets are at risk of impairment and the 
recoverable amount is measured. Surplus 
assets at cost are tested for indications of 
impairment at the end of each reporting 
period.

(l)   Intangible assets
Computer Software
Software that is an integral part of the 
related hardware is treated as property, 
plant and equipment. Software that is not 
an integral part of the related hardware is 
treated as an intangible asset. Software 
costing less than $5,000 is expensed in the 
year of acquisition.

Web site costs
Web site costs are charged as expenses 
when they are incurred unless they relate 
to the acquisition or development of an 
asset when they may be capitalised and 
amortised. Generally, costs in relation 
to feasibility studies during the planning 
phase of a web site, and ongoing costs of 
maintenance during the operating phase 
are expensed. Costs incurred in building 
or enhancing a web site, to the extent that 
they represent probable future economic 
benefits that can be reliably measured, are 
capitalised.

Capitalisation / expensing
Acquisitions of intangible assets costing 
$5,000 or more are capitalised. The cost of 
utilising the assets is expensed (amortised) 
over their useful life. Costs incurred below 
these thresholds are expensed directly to 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Initial recognition
Intangible assets are initially recognised at 
cost. For assets acquired at no cost, or for 
nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at 
the date of acquisition.

Subsequent measurement
The cost model is applied for subsequent 
measurement requiring the asset to be 
carried at cost less any accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment 
losses.

Amortisation
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite 
useful lives is calculated for the period 
of the expected benefit (estimated useful 
life) on the straight line basis using rates 
which are reviewed annually. All intangible 
assets controlled by the Authority have a 
finite useful life and zero residual value. 
The expected useful lives for each class of 
intangible asset are:

Software (a) 3 Years
Website 3 Years

(a) Software that is not integral to the 
operation of any related hardware.

Impairment
The carrying value of intangible assets is 
reviewed for impairment annually when the 
asset is not yet in use, or more frequently 
when an indicator of impairment arises 
during the reporting year indicating that the 
carrying value may not be recoverable.

(m)  Investment property
Investment property, principally comprising 
freehold land and buildings, is not occupied 
by the Authority and derives long term 
rental yields. Investment property is 
carried at fair value, as mandated by TI 954, 
representing open‐market value determined 
annually by external valuers. Changes in 
fair value are recorded in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.

(n)  Leases
As lessee
Operating leases are leases that do not 
transfer to the Authority substantially all the 
risks and benefits incidental to ownership 
of the leased item. The Authority holds 
operating leases for office premises, motor 
vehicles and some equipment. Operating 
leases are expensed on a straight line basis 
over the lease term as this represents the 
pattern of benefits derived from the leased 
assets.

As lessor
Leases in which the Authority does not 
transfer substantially all the risks and 
benefits of ownership of an asset are 
classified as operating leases. 

From time to time the Authority may offer 
inducements to tenants to enter into 
non‐cancellable operating leases. These 
incentives may include contributions to 

fit‐outs and relocation costs, or rental 
free periods.  Where an incentive has 
been granted in respect to a contribution 
to a leasehold fit-out the value of the 
contribution is absorbed into the value of the 
asset as an Investment Property held at fair 
value. Where an incentive is in the form of 
a rent free period it is reflected in the rental 
income over the course of the lease period 
on a straight line basis.

(o)  Financial instruments
In addition to cash, the Authority has three 
categories of financial instruments:

 –  Loans and receivables
 –  Held to maturity investments  

(includes short term deposits)
 –  Financial liabilities measured at  

amortised cost

Financial instruments have been 
disaggregated into the following classes:

Financial assets:
 – Cash and cash equivalents
 – Restricted cash and cash equivalents
 – Receivables

Financial liabilities:
 – Payables
 – Western Australian Treasury Corporation 

borrowings
 –  Income in advance
 –  Other borrowings

Initial recognition and measurement of 
financial instruments is at fair value which 
normally equates to the transaction cost 
or face value. Subsequent measurement 
is at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. The fair value of short‐term 
receivables and payables is the transaction 
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the State Government, at no or nominal 
consideration. In those circumstances, the 
carrying amount of those inventories shall 
be recognised as a reduction to contributed 
equity when the inventories are distributed.

(y)  Dividends
In accordance with the Metropolitan 
Redevelopment Authority Act 2011, the 
Treasurer may direct the payment of any 
surplus, in part or whole, at the end of any 
financial year, to the Consolidated Fund. The 
amount of the surplus/dividend payment is 
determined by the Treasurer in conjunction 
with the Authority.

(z)  Goods and services tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are 
recognised net of the amount of goods and 
services tax (GST), except:

(i) where the amount of GST incurred is not 
recoverable from the taxation authority, it is 
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition 
of an asset or as part of an item of expense; 
or

(ii) for receivables and payables which are 
recognised inclusive of GST.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or 
payable to, the taxation authority is included 
as part of receivables or payables. The 
GST component of cash flows arising from 
investing and financing activities which is 
recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation 
authority is classified as operating cash 
flows.

(aa)  Comparative figures
Comparison figures are, where appropriate, 
reclassified to be comparable with the 
figures presented in the current financial 
year.

2.2  Disclosure of changes in 
accounting policies and estimates
Voluntary changes in accounting policy
There has been no voluntary change in 
accounting policies.

2.3  Significant estimates and 
judgements
The preparation of financial statements 
requires management to make judgements 
about the application of accounting policies 
that have a significant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements. 
The Authority evaluates these judgements 
regularly.

Fair value of land and buildings
Land and buildings are independently 
valued annually by Colliers International 
Licensed Real Estate and Business Agents 
and recognised with sufficient regularity 
to ensure that the carrying amount does 
not differ materially from the asset’s fair 
value at the end of the reporting period. The 
most significant assumptions in estimating 
fair value are made in assessing whether 
to apply the existing use basis to assets 
and in determining estimated useful life 
and also determining the highest and best 
use. Professional judgement by the valuer 
is required where the evidence does not 
provide a clear distinction between market 
type assets and existing use assets.

Public infrastructure expenses
Capital expenditure undertaken by the 
Authority on land owned by the Crown or 
State as part of the Authority’s mandate 
has been expensed based on the best 
information currently available regarding 
the transfer of future ownership at nil or 
nominal cost.

Recovery of inventory and investment 
property
The net realisable value (NRV) of inventory 
is calculated using the estimated selling 
price in the ordinary course of business 
less the estimated costs of completion and 
the estimated costs necessary to make 
the sale. The key assumptions involve 
management judgement, and take into 
account reliable information on hand at the 
time the estimates are made and where 
possible, external verification is sought for 
those variables with a material impact on 
the outcomes.

Valuations in respect of investment 
property are assessed by reference to 
market conditions and prices existing at the 
reporting date and are determined by the 
Authority, based on market transactions 
involving identical or comparable assets. 
Where the MRA has been unable to 
obtain relevant inputs for fair value, or 
where construction was not complete, the 
investment property has been recorded at 
cost.

Fair value of borrowings
The Authority recognises its borrowings 
amount as per the accounting policy, initially 
at the fair value before measuring the 
liability at amortised cost.

Provision for contaminated sites
In determining the Authority’s liability 
for remediating contaminated sites, 
assumptions regarding the level of 
remediation work are made. Assumptions 
include soil volume based on methodical 
sample testing, method of soil remediation 
engineering estimates and the provision of 
professional consultants. Once the sites are 
fully assessed using environmental testing 
the level of remediation work required may 
change requiring the liability to be adjusted.

3. Disclosure of changes in 
accounting policy

(a) Initial application of an Australian 
Accounting Standard
The Authority has not applied any new 
Australian Accounting Standards effective 
for annual reporting periods beginning on 
or after 1 July 2015 that impacted on the 
Authority.

(b)  Future impact of Australian Accounting 
Standards not yet operative
The Authority cannot early adopt an 
Australian Accounting Standard unless 
specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application 
of Australian Accounting Standards and 
Other Pronouncements.  Consequently, the 
Authority has not applied early any of the 
following Australian Accounting Standards 
that have been issued that may impact the 
Authority.  Where applicable, the Authority 
plans to apply these Australian Accounting 
Standards from their application date.
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2.1   Summary of significant accounting 
policies (cont.)
Employees commencing employment prior 
to 16 April 2007 who were not members 
of either the Pension Scheme or the GSS 
became non‐contributory members of the 
West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS). 
Employees commencing employment on 
or after 16 April 2007 became members 
of the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS). 
From 30 March 2012, existing members of 
the WSS or GESBS and new employees 
have been able to choose their preferred 
superannuation fund provider. The Authority 
makes contributions to GESB or other 
fund providers on behalf of employees 
in compliance with the Commonwealth 
Government’s Superannuation Guarantee 
(Administration) Act 1992. Contributions to 
these accumulation schemes extinguish 
the Authority’s liability for superannuation 
charges in respect of employees who are 
not members of the Pension Scheme or 
GSS.

The Pension Scheme and the pre‐transfer 
benefit for employees who transferred 
to the GSS are defined benefit schemes. 
These benefits are wholly unfunded and the 
liabilities for future payments are provided 
at the end of the reporting period. The 
liabilities under these schemes have been 
calculated separately for each scheme 
annually by Price-Waterhouse Coopers LLP 
Actuaries using the projected unit credit 
method.

The expected future payments are 
discounted to present value using market 
yields at the end of the reporting period on 
national government bonds with terms to 
maturity that match, as closely as possible, 
the estimated future cash outflows.

Employment on-costs
Employment on-costs, including workers’ 
compensation insurance, are not employee 
benefits and are recognised separately 
as liabilities and expenses when the 
employment to which they relate has 
occurred.  Employment on-costs are 
included as part of ‘Other expenses’ and 
are not included as part of the Authority’s 
‘Employee benefits expense’.  The related 
liability is included in ‘Employment on-costs 
provision’.

Deferred works
A provision for deferred works is recognised 
when a contract of sale provides for specific 
capital works to be undertaken on the land 
subsequent to the sale of the land and the 
sale has met the criteria for recognition.

Contaminated sites
Under the Contaminated Sites Act 2003, 
the Authority is required to report known 
and suspected contaminated sites to 
the Department of Environment and 
Conservation (DEC). In accordance with the 
Act, DEC classifies these sites on the basis 
of the risk to human health, the environment 
and environmental values. Where sites are 
classified as contaminated – remediation 
required or possibly contaminated – 
investigation required, the Authority may 
have a liability in respect of investigation or 
remediation expenses. 

Future development obligations
Where the Authority has provided an 
undertaking to carry out development 
projects in lieu of arrangements with 
external parties for contributions paid or 
for the sale of development rights of land 
under its control, a provision has been 
raised to recognise the Authority’s future 
development obligations in respect of 
contributions paid and/or land sold.

Parking contributions
A provision for parking contributions is 
recognised when a developer becomes 
obligated to pay a parking contribution to 
the Authority as a result of not fulfilling 
minimum parking requirements in their 
particular development plans. These 
contributions are held by the Authority to be 
applied for the provision of public parking, 
cycling, pedestrian facilities or public 
transport within the redevelopment area.

(v)  Employee benefits expense
Employee benefits expense comprises all 
benefits paid to direct employees of the 
Authority.

It includes:

• Base salary;

• Fringe benefits;

• Personal leave;

• Holiday pay;

• Long service leave;

• Bonuses; and

• Superannuation.

Employee benefits expense does not include 
the on‐costs of providing employment which 
do not constitute a benefit to employees 
including:

• Payroll tax; and

• Worker Compensation Insurance.

(w)  Resources received free of charge or for 
nominal cost
Resources received free of charge or 
for nominal cost that can be reliably 
measured are recognised as income at 
fair value. Where the resource received 
represents a service that the Authority 
would otherwise pay for, a corresponding 
expense is recognised. Receipts of assets 
are recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Position.

(x)  Distribution or disposal of assets at no or 
nominal cost
Occasionally the Authority may be required 
to transfer inventories (developed land and/
or buildings) to a third party, potentially 
another organisation established by 
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Employee benefits – personal leave
Liabilities for personal leave are recognised 
when it is probable that personal leave 
paid in the future will be greater than the 
entitlement that will accrue in the future. 
Past history indicates that, on average, 
personal leave taken each reporting period 
is less than the entitlement accrued. This 
is expected to continue in future periods. 
Accordingly, it is unlikely that existing 
accumulated entitlements will be used 
by employees and no liability for unused 
personal leave entitlements is recognised. 
As personal leave is non‐vesting, an 
expense is recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income for this leave as it 
is taken.

Employee benefits – annual and long 
service leave
All annual leave and long service leave 
provisions are in respect of employees’ 
services up to the end of the reporting 
period.

Annual leave
Annual leave is not expected to be settled 
wholly within 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period and is therefore considered 
to be ‘other long term employee benefits’.  
The annual leave liability is recognised and 
measured at the present value of amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities 
are settled using the remuneration rate 
expected to apply at the time of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments 
consideration is given to expected future 
wage and salary levels including non-
salary components such as employer 
superannuation contributions, as well as 
the experience of employee departures and 
periods of service.  The expected future 
payments are discounted using market 
yields at the end of the reporting period on 
national government bonds with terms to 
maturity that match, as closely as possible, 
the estimated future cash outflows.

The provision for annual leave is classified 
as a current liability as the Authority does 

not have an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 
months after the end of the reporting period.

Long service leave
Long service leave is not expected to be 
settled wholly within 12 months after the 
end of the reporting period and is therefore 
recognised and measured at the present 
value of amounts expected to be paid 
when the liabilities are settled using the 
remuneration rate expected to apply at the 
time of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments 
consideration is given to expected future 
wage and salary levels including non-
salary components such as employer 
superannuation contributions, as well as 
the experience of employee departures and 
periods of service.  The expected future 
payments are discounted using market 
yields at the end of the reporting period on 
national government bonds with terms to 
maturity that match, as closely as possible, 
the estimated future cash outflows.

Unconditional long service leave provisions 
are classified as current liabilities as the 
Authority does not have an unconditional 
right to defer settlement of the liability 
for at least 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period.  Pre-conditional and 
conditional long service leave provisions are 
classified as non-current liabilities because 
the Authority has an unconditional right to 
defer the settlement of the liability until the 
employee has completed the requisite years 
of service.
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3. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy (cont.) Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on/
after

AASB 9 Financial Instruments
This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments. 
The mandatory application date of this Standard is currently 1 January 2018 after being amended by AASB 2012-6, AASB 2013-9, and AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards. The Authority has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
This Standard establishes the principles that the Authority shall apply to report useful information to users of financial statements about the nature, amount timing and 
uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from a contract with a customer. The Authority has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 16 Leases
This Standard supersedes AASB 117 Leases, introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments. The mandatory application date of this Standard is currently 1 January 
2019. The Authority has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of this Standard.

1 Jan 2019

AASB 2014-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation [AASB 116 & 138]
The adoption of this Standard has no financial impact for the Authority as depreciation and amortisation is not determined by reference to revenue generation, but by reference 
to consumption of future economic benefits.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2014-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 15
This Standard gives effect to the consequential amendments to Australian Accounting Standards (including Interpretations) arising from the issuance of AASB 15. The Authority 
has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2015-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Annual Improvements to Australian Accounting Standards 2012–2014 Cycle  
[AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 11, 110, 119, 121, 133, 134, 137 & 140]  
These amendments arise from the issuance of International Financial Reporting Standard Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012–2014 Cycle in September 2014, and editorial 
corrections. The Authority has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2015-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to AASB 101 [AASB 7, 101, 134 & 1049]  
This Standard amends AASB 101 to provide clarification regarding the disclosure requirements in AASB 101. Specifically, the Standard proposes narrow-focus amendments to 
address some of the concerns expressed about existing presentation and disclosure requirements and to ensure entities are able to use judgement when applying a Standard in 
determining what information to disclose in their financial statements. There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2015-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Effective Date of AASB 15
This Standard amends the mandatory effective date (application date) of AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers so that AASB 15 is required to be to be applied for 
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 instead of 1 January 2017. The Authority has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of AASB 15. 

1 Jan 2017

AASB 2016-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to AASB 107  
This Standard amends the disclosure requirements of AASB 107 Statement of Cash Flows. Specifically, the Standard proposes the addition of a reconciliation of cash and non-
cash movements in liabilities arising from financing activities. There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2017

AASB 2016-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Clarifications to AASB 15
This Standard clarifies identifying performance obligations, principal versus agent considerations, timing of recognising revenue from granting a licence, and, provides further 
transitional provisions to AASB 15. The Authority has not yet determined the application or the potential impact.

1 Jan 2017
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2016 
$000

2015 
$000

7. Employee Benefits
Wages and salaries (a) 14,245  13,480 
Superannuation - defined contribution plans (b) 1,437  1,271 
Superannuation – defined benefit plans (see note 23) (113) (227) 
Staff training and Memberships 141 134
Fringe Benefits Tax 110 109

15,820  14,767

(a) Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefits tax component, leave entitlements including superannuation contribution component. Increase due to increase in 
number of staff, increase in discount rate and increase in rates applied to calculate on-costs.

(b) Defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State and GESB Super Scheme.
 Employment on-costs liability is included at note 23 ‘Provisions’.

8. Supplies and Services
Administration 294 (194) 
Communications 677  699 
Consultants and Contractors 4,577  6,313 
Development Control 104  68 
Economic and Community Development 673   518 
Environmental Remediation 770  26 
Insurances 584  667 
IT Software & Licences 574  365 
Office Occupancy Costs -  1,604 
Other Supplies & Services 243 308 
Property and Estate Management 850  540 

9,346 10,914 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2016 
$000

2015 
$000

4. Trading Profit
Sales 35,022  29,016 
Cost of sales:
Opening inventory 480,931 369,913 
Purchases 114,628 115,180 
Goods available for sale 595,559 485,093 
Closing inventory 315,022  480,931 
Cost of goods sold 28,388 3,827
Trading profit 6,634 25,189
See note 2(r) ‘Inventories’ and note 12 ‘Inventories’.

5. Interest Income
Interest 1,507 (196) 

1,507 (196) 
Interest income is predominantly derived from nominal interest applied in respect to staged sales proceeds.

6. Other Income
Development Applications 1,034 804 
Planning Fees/Charges 7 20 
Tenant Outgoings - Recoverable 290 6 
Contributions for Public Art 276 -
Sale of Surplus Assets 890 -
Contributions for  Naming Rights 2,000 4,000
Recoup of Marketing Expenses 600 616
Inclusive Communities Project Contributions 200 -
Recovery of Project Costs 252 -
Other Revenue 853 872 
Reduction in Provision 75 68 
Venue Hire 353 -
Office Occupancy 993 -

7,823 6,386 
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2016 
$000

2015 
$000

11. Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Non restricted cash and cash equivalents 29,293  18,977 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents                            23,426  11,753 

52,719  30,730 

Non restricted cash and cash equivalents consists of the Authority’s operating account, which is a non-interest bearing account and project funds  
held on deposit with the Western Australian Treasury Corporation (WATC), which attract floating interest rates. 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents predominately represents funds held for Developer Contribution Schemes together with restricted parking funds,  
held in floating interest rate accounts with the WATC.

12. Inventories
The aggregate carrying amount of inventories recognised and included in the financial statements is as follows:
Current 41,702 95,984 
Non-Current 273,320 384,947
Total Inventories 315,022  480,931 

Current
Developed Land (at cost) 41,702 95,984 

41,702 95,984 
The following represents the transfers to and from developed land inventories:
Developed Land (at cost)
Balance at Start of period 95,983 63,968 
Provision for Future Works - (27,264)
Cost of Sales (28,388) (3,827)
Items expensed - (36)
Transferred (to) / from Non-Current Inventory (15,065) 78,726 
Infrastructure Development Expense - (9,633)
Write down inventory to net realisable value (10,829) (5,950)
Balance at period end 41,702 95,984 
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2016 
$000

2015 
$000

9. Depreciation and Amortisation 
Depreciation
Buildings (12)  5 
Plant and Equipment 647  41 
Furniture & Office Equipment 141 17
Infrastructure 1,532 -
Computer Equipment 34  154 
Leasehold Improvements 214  205 
Artwork -  1 
Total depreciation 2,557  423 
Amortisation
Intangible assets 1,455  1,379 
Total amortisation 1,455  1,379 
Total depreciation and amortisation 4,011  1,802 

10. Other Expenses
Doubtful Debts (a) - 16
Loss on Disposal of Asset 45 10
Disposal of Surplus Assets 978 -
Members Allowances (b) 287 251
Payroll Tax 881 739
Other Expenditure 147 1
Write-Off Bad Debts - 1

2,338 1,018 
(a) Net of amounts recovered during the period.
(b) Net of superannuation amounts.
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2016 
$000

2015 
$000

13. Receivables 
Current
Trade receivables 1,354 801 
Provision for impairment of receivables (22) (22)
GST Receivable 1,200 4,108 

2,532 4,887
Other receivables 4,058  7,110 

6,590  11,997 

Reconciliation of changes in the allowance for impairment of receivables:
Balance at start of period (22) (7)
Doubtful Debts expense recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income - (22)
Amounts recovered during the period - 6 
Amounts written off during the period - 1 
Balance at end of period (22) (22)

The Authority does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements relating to receivables.

Non Current
Other receivables 8,312  10,014 

8,312  10,014 
Refer to note 2(q) and note 31 ‘Financial Instruments’.

14. Other Current Assets
Prepayments 506  335 

506  335 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2016

2016 
$000

2015 
$000

12. Inventories (cont.)
Non-Current
Developed Land (at cost) 273,320 384,947 

273,320 384,947 

The following represents the transfers to and from developed land inventories:
Developed Land (at cost)
Balance at Start of period 384,947 305,944 
Prior Period Corrections (7,343) (455)
Agency Transfers - -
Cost of Sales – Stock (1,389) -
Transferred (to) / from Current Inventory 15,065 (78,726)
Additional Works 109,504 195,020 
Developer Contribution Recoveries (16,554) (7,040)
Developer Contributions Scheme Adjustments (309) 984
Transferred (to) / from Infrastructure and Property, Plant and Equipment (176,324) (2,348)
Transferred (to) / from Investment Property - (3,972)
Transferred (to) / from WIP (12,536) -
Transferred to / (from) Provisions 468 -
Infrastructure Development Expense (4,138) -
Write Down Inventory to Net Realisable Value (18,073) (24,460)
Balance at period end 273,320 384,947 
Inventories are recorded at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 
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2016
Land
 $000 

Buildings
 $000 

Plant & 
Equipment

$000

Furniture 
& Office 

Equipment
$000

Computer 
Equipment

$000

Lease 
Improvements

$000
Artworks

$000

Public 
Artworks

$000

Work In 
Progress

$000
Total
$000

Carrying amount at start of period - 3,188 38 996 - 1,929 630 - 60 6,861
Adjustment to opening balances from 
prior period - - - - - - - - 7,744 7,744

Additions - - 7 - - - 3,272 - 190,030 193,309
Disposals - - (5) (20) - (974) - - (5) (1,003)
Depreciation - 12 (647) (141) (34) (214) - - - (1,024)
Transfers - 1,041 9,006 (325) 1,105 176 (3,486) 3,798 (181,375) (170,060)
Revaluation Increment (decrement) - (1,600) 30 - - - - - - (1,570)
Carrying amount at end of period - 2,641 8,430 510 1,071 917 416 3,798 16,454 34,237

2015
 Land 
 $000 

 Buildings 
 $000 

Plant & 
Equipment

$000

Computer 
Equipment

$000

Lease 
Improvements

$000
Artworks

$000

Work In 
Progress

$000
Total
$000

Carrying amount at start of period 650 43 160 987 1,208 - 301 3,349 
Adjustment to opening balances from prior period - - 4 2 (7) - (44) (45)
Additions - 2,348 - - - 597 1,766 4,711 
Disposals - - (69) (106) - - - (175)
Depreciation - (10) 95 (141) (204) - - (260)
Transfers (650) 605 14 88 932 32 (1,963) (942)
Revaluation Increment (decrement) - 202 - - - 1 - 203 
Carrying amount at end of period - 3,188 204 830 1,929 630 60 6,841 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2016

2016 
$000

2015 
$000

15. Property, Plant and Equipment
Buildings
At fair value 2,641 3,200 
Accumulated depreciation - (12)

2,641 3,188 
Artworks
At fair value 416 630 

416 630 
Public Artwork
At cost 3,798 -

3,798 -
Furniture & Office Equipment
At cost 598 -
Accumulated depreciation (88) -

510 -
Plant and Equipment
At cost 9,828 645 
Accumulated depreciation (1,398) (441)

8,430 204 
Computer Equipment
At cost 1,809 1,669 
Accumulated depreciation (738) (839)

1,071 830 
Leasehold Improvements
At cost 918 2,455 
Accumulated depreciation (1) (526)

917 1,929 
Work In Progress
At cost 16,454 60 

16,454 60 
Total Property, Plant and Equipment 34,237 6,841 
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17. Infrastructure
At Cost 
At cost 152,640  209 
Accumulated depreciation (1,532) -

151,108 209 
Reconciliation
Carrying amount at start of period 209                      -   
Additions 152,431 -
Transfers to / (from) Infrastructure -                  209 
Depreciation expense (1,532) -
Carrying amount at end of period 151,108                  209 

18. Fair Value Measurement

2016
 Level 1 

 $000 
 Level 2 

 $000 
Level 3

$000
Fair Value at end of Period

$000
Land (Note 15) - - -  -   
Buildings (Note 15) - 2,641 - 2,641
Investment Properties (Note 16) - 47,625 - 47,625

 -   50,266 - 50,266

2015

Land (Note 15) - - -  -   
Buildings (Note 15) - 3,188 - 3,188
Investment Properties (Note 16) - 50,643 - 50,643

 -   53,831 - 53,831

There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 or 3 during the period.

Valuation techniques to derive fair values

Level 2 fair values of Buildings and Investment Properties are derived using the market approach.  For market valued assets free of encumbrances the value is measured by market transactions involving 
comparison and analysis of identical or comparable assets. For assets with encumbrances, the income approach was used which converts future cashflow amounts to a single current discounted amount to 
arrive at a fair value.  

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2016

2016 
$000

2015 
$000

16. Investment Properties
At Fair Value 
Carrying amount at start of period 50,643 24,374 
Additions - -
Transfer (to) / from Inventory - 3,972 
Net gain (loss) from fair value adjustment (a) (3,018) 22,297 

47,625  50,643 

At Cost 
Carrying amount at start of period - -
Transfer (to) / from Inventory (b) 17,574 -

17,574 -
Total Investment Properties 65,199 50,643

Amounts recognised in Statement of Comprehensive Income for Investment Properties
Revaluation Increment (Decrement) reflected in Statement of Comprehensive Income (c) (3,018) 22,297 
Rental income 2,508 1,954 
Direct operating expenses from property that generated rental income 306 190 

(a) Investment Property land and buildings were revalued by Colliers Valuation Services as at 30 June 2016. 
(b) The Investment Properties at Elizabeth Quay have been recorded at cost in the 2016 financial statements where construction is not complete or fair value cannot be reliably established.
(c) The 2015 revaluation increment relates to the reclassification of a number of items from Inventory, which were recorded at cost, to Investment Property, which were subsequently valued at fair value.
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2016 
$000

2015 
$000

22. Income in Advance
Rental Income 869 134 
Local government appropriations 1,596 -
Deposit for the purchase of land - 25 

2,465  159 

23. Provisions 
Current
Employee benefits provision:
Annual leave (a) 1,425 1,033 
Long service leave (b) 1,052 1,031 
Superannuation 220 186 

2,697 2,250 

Other provisions
Employment on-costs (b) 126 134 
Future Monitoring 28 50 
Contaminated sites - 1,500

154 1,684
2,851 3,934 

Non- Current
Employee benefits provision:
Long service leave (b) 796 535 
Superannuation 76 49 
Defined benefit superannuation plans (c) 1,933 1,839

2,805  2,423 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2016

2016 
$000

2015 
$000

19. Intangible assets
Software at cost 4,952 6,119 
Accumulated amortisation (4,284) (4,006)

668 2,113 

Reconciliation:
Carrying amount at start of period 2,113 2,548 
Additions (45) -
Transfers to / (from) intangible assets 55 944
Amortisation expense (1,455) (1,379)
Carrying amount at end of period 668 2,113 

20. Impairment of assets 
There were no indications of impairment to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets as at 30 June 2016. 
The Authority held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the reporting period.

21. Payables
Current
Trade payables 81 13,565 
Accrued salaries - 427 
Accrued expenses 1,492 1,475 
Other Payables 14,984 11,636
Total current 16,557  27,103 

Non-current
Payables - lease incentive liability 3,629 2,122 
Total non-current 3,629 2,122 

See also note 2(t) ‘Payables’ and note 31 ‘Financial Instruments’.
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2016 
$000

2015 
$000

Reconciliation of the fair value of plan assets is as follows:

Fair value of plan assets at start of period - -
Employer contributions 68 67 
Benefits paid (68) (67)
Fair value of plan assets at end of period - -

The principal actuarial assumptions used (expressed as weighted averages) were as follows:
Discount rate 2.26% 2.74%
Future salary increases 3.50% 4.00%

Historic Summary
Defined benefit (Pension Scheme):
Present value of unfunded obligation 1,933 1,839 
Deficit 1,933 1,839 

Experience adjustments arising on plan liabilities:
Defined benefit (Pension Scheme): (17) (6) 

Movement in other provisions
Employment on-cost provision

Current
Carrying amount at start of year 134 86 
Additional provision recognised (7) 48 
Carrying amount at end of period 127 134 

Non-current
Carrying amount at start of year 35 29 
Additional provision recognised 17 6 
Carrying amount at end of period 52 35 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2016

2016 
$000

2015 
$000

23. Provisions (cont.)
Other provisions
Employment on-costs ( b) 52  35 
Future works - 277 
Future monitoring 633  708 
Contaminated sites 21,245  20,504 
Parking contributions 653  641 

22,583 22,165 
25,388 24,588 

(a) Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the reporting period.  
Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities and employment on-costs will occur as follows:

Within 12 months of reporting period 1,049  818 
More than 12 months after reporting period 563  377 

1,611  1,195 

Within 12 months of reporting period 1,213  435 
More than 12 months after reporting period 923  1,373 

2,136 1,808

(b) The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment on-costs including 
workers’ compensation insurance.  The provision is the present value of expected future payments.  

(c) Defined benefit superannuation plans
The Authority has no legal liability to make up the liability other than by continuing to comply with the employer funding arrangements as detailed below.
Reconciliation of the unfunded liability recognised in the Statement of Financial position is as follows:
Liability at start of period 1,839 1,620 
Included in profit or loss:
Interest costs (unwinding of the discount) 49 59 
Included in Other Comprehensive Income:
Net actuarial losses / ( gains) recognised 113 227 
Benefits paid (68) (67)
Liability at the end of the period 1,933 1,839 
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2016 
$000

2015 
$000

Accumulated Surplus/ (Deficit)
Balance at start of period (95,904) (75,597)
Loss for the period (68,086) (20,081)
Net revaluation of defined benefit scheme (113) (227)
Balance at end of period (164,103) (95,904)
Total Equity at end of period 260,598 266,198

27. Notes to the Statement of Cashflows
Reconciliation of cash
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cashflows is reconciled to the related  
items in the Statement of Financial Position as follows:
Cash and cash equivalents 29,293 18,977 
Non-current cash and cash equivalents 23,426 11,753 

52,719 30,730 

Reconciliation of profit/(loss) after tax equivalent to net cash flows provided by/(used in) operating activities
Surplus/(deficit) (78,443) (22,767)
Non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortisation 4,011 1,802
Revaluation (increment) /decrement 4,123 (23,122)
Doubtful debt and asset write-off 1,049 25
Services received free of charge (126) (105)
Prior year equity adjustment - 466
Grants and subsidies - (2,581)
(Increase) / decrease in assets:
Current receivables (a) 4,846 (3,563) 
Other current assets (171) 355 
Other non-current assets 1,702 (9,822) 
Inventory charged to Cost of Sales 28,388 3,827 
Write down inventory to NRV 28,901 30,410 
Infrastructure development expense 1,945 9,633 
Finance costs expensed 6,343 -

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2016 
$000

2015 
$000

24. Borrowings
Non-Current
WA Treasury Corporation Term Floating Rate 122,692 62,162
WA Treasury Corporation Term Fixed Rate 188,618 197,065
Western Australian Land Authority 10,397 9,579 

321,707  268,806 

It is the MRA’s expectation that these amounts will be refinanced under contractual arrangements in place with the Western Australian Treasury Corporation, rather than repaid and therefore they 
are not recognised as current borrowings.

25. Other Liabilities
Non-Current
Public art and Parking fund contribution (a) 555 292 
Refundable Development Bond 611 611 

1,166 904 

(a)  Parking fund represents cash in lieu of parking spaces. The funds are to be used to provide public facilities. The public art fund represents developer contributions to the Percent for Art scheme. 
This requires that all developments over $1m contribute 1% of the construction costs to public art. The public art may be delivered as part of the development or paid to the Authority for the 
delivery of public art within the project area.

26. Equity
Balance at start of period 361,691 216,962
Contribution from Government
Capital Contribution 63,000 144,729 
Balance at end of period 424,691  361,691 

Asset Revaluation Reserve
Balance at start of period 412 - 
Net revaluation (decrements) / increments - Buildings (411) 202 
Net revaluation (decrements) / increments - Artworks 10 1
Net revaluation (decrements) / increments - Infrastructure - 209
Balance at end of period 11 412 
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2016 
$000

2015 
$000

Non-Cancellable Operating Lease Commitments
Commitments for minimum lease payments are payable as follows:
Within 1 year 325  1,209 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 1,732  4,593 
Later than 5 years 10,793  9,891 

12,850 15,693

29. Contingent assets and contingent liabilities
Contingent assets
The Authority has no contingent assets.

Contingent liabilities
Grand Palace Lease Dispute – Elizabeth Quay 
The party (Wang Nominees) that formerly occupied the now reconstructed Florence Hummerston Kiosk has commenced an action for compensation against the Western Australian Planning 
Commission (WAPC) in the Supreme Court of Western Australia. A sum of $5M was paid by the WAPC from the Elizabeth Quay project budget to Wang Nominees as an advance payment prior to a 
formal compensation claim being lodged. Late in 2013, Wang Nominees rejected a formal offer of compensation however accepted the amount offered as a second advance payment, being $2.24M.  
This brings the total payments to date to $7.24M. A court appointed mediation was held in the 3rd quarter of 2014 but the mediation process was terminated as there remained considerable difference 
between the parties on the quantum of settlement.  The matter has been proceeding in accordance with case management directions with the conferral of the parties’ expert valuers.   
WAPC continues to lead and manage the compensation claim as the land was taken by the WAPC in exercise of its taking powers under section 191 of the Planning and Development Act 2005.  
Title to the land was transferred to the MRA following the taking and the MRA will be required to fund any additional compensation amount as determined from the project budget. 

Contamination Management – East Perth Gas-Works Site
The MRA is obligated to manage the contamination of the East Perth Gas-Works site and adjacent areas of the Swan River by direction from the Minister for the Environment. There is a containment 
management strategy in place. In February 2014, under the Contaminated Sites Act 2003 the Department of Environment Regulation (DER) classified Mardalup Park as ‘Remediated for Restricted Use’. 
DER requested the MRA continue ongoing:
a) Monitoring of the site to assess the integrity and success of contamination containment measures at the site; and
b) Focus on potential contaminated groundwater migrating from the on-site containment area to the river.
It is not possible to reliably estimate the potential financial effect of any claims should a contamination event occur in the future.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2016 
$000

2015 
$000

27. Notes to the Statement of Cashflows (cont.)
Increase / (decrease) in liabilities:
Payables (a) 2,423 170 
Payables - non current 1,507 1,141 
Income in advance 2,306 (70) 
Current provisions (1,083) 850
Other non-current liabilities 262 936 
Non-current provisions 505 (4,178) 
Change in GST receivables/payables (b) 30 (431) 
Net cash provided by / (used in) operating activities 8,517 (14,338) 

(a) Note that the Australian Taxation Office receivable/payable in respect of GST and the receivable/payable in respect of the  
sale/purchase of non-current assets are not included in these items as they do not form part of the reconciling items.
(b) This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables.

28. Commitments
Capital expenditure commitments
Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure additional to the amounts reported in the  
financial statements, are payable as follows:
Within 1 year 9,686 30,925
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 131,511 171,889

141,197 202,814

Other expenditure commitments
Expenditure commitments for all other items considered non-capital in nature contracted for at the end of the  
reporting period but not recognised as liabilities, are payable as follows:
Within 1 year 12,694 20,021
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 52,158 27,189

64,852 47,210
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30. Explanatory Statement
This statement provides details of any significant variations between estimates (as per the Ministerially approved Business Plan 2015/16) and actual results for 2016 and between the actuals results 
for 2016 and 2015 are shown below.  Significant variations are considered to be those greater than 5% and $5 million.

 2016 
 Actual 

 $000 

 2016 
 Estimates

 $000 

Variance
$000

Income
Sales Revenue 35,022 103,145 (68,123)
Developer Contribution Fees 16,887 24,909 (8,021)
Other Income 7,823 1,748 6,075
Rechargeable Works 6,974 - 6,974
Grants and Contributions from Other Government Agencies 10,231 16,752 (6,521)

Expense
Cost of Sales 28,388 89,145 60,757
Developer Contribution Expenses 16,554 24,909 8,355
Rechargeable Works 8,696 - (8,696)
Property Maintenance 8,950 3,799 (5,172)
Write Down of Inventory to Net Realisable Value 28,901 - (28,901)

Income:
Sales revenue was lower than estimated due to delays in settlement on sites within the Central Perth and Midland Redevelopment Areas which were budgeted in 2015/16.
Developer Contribution Fees are lower than budgeted due to the number of development applications lodged by developers.
Other Income for 2015/16 includes revenue from contributions for naming rights, sale of surplus assets and adjustments to office occupancy provisions that were not budgeted for.
Actual Rechargeable Works income includes works recharged in the Midland and Scarborough Redevelopment Areas which were not budgeted.
Grants and Contributions from other Government agencies are lower than budget due to delays in works in the Scarborough Redevelopment Area.

Expenses:
Cost of Sales was lower than budgeted due to delays in settlement on sites within the Central Perth and Midland Redevelopment Areas.
Developer Contribution Expenses reflect lower than expected number of development applications lodged by developers.
Actual Rechargeable Works expense includes works recharged in the Midland and Scarborough Redevelopment Areas which were not budgeted.
Actual Property Maintenance expenses include maintenance costs in the Central Perth Redevelopment Area that were budgeted as part of the asset investment program. 
Inventory write downs relate to the Subiaco, Midland and Central Perth Redevelopment Areas. These are independently assessed at the end of each financial period and are a function of market 
movements.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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29. Contingent assets and contingent liabilities (cont.)
Former Pioneer Road Service Site (PRS) – Groundwater Monitoring
Lots 201 and 202 Hay Street, which fall within the former PRS site on Hay Street in Subiaco, have been reclassified as “Remediated – Restricted Use” and approved for residential and commercial 
uses, but have some remnant groundwater contamination at 21 metres below ground level. The MRA is required by the Department of Environment Regulation (DER) to undertake quarterly 
groundwater monitoring to confirm the fate of the groundwater, in accordance with the approved site specific Long Term Groundwater Monitoring Plan (LTGWMP).  Depending on the results of the 
periodic monitoring, MRA may be required to:
a) Continue to perform further monitoring for a longer period;
b) Perform further remediation works; and
c) Compensate third parties affected by the contamination.
Mitigating against those matters are that the groundwater is not hazardous to human health in its current location; the site reclassification included a prevention on: groundwater abstraction; 
excavation below 8.5 metres below ground level; and certain uses; and a memorial has been placed on the titles in that regard. A decision is expected from DER on the need for continued monitoring 
under the LTGWMP in late 2016.

Champion Lakes Regatta Centre Dispute
The MRA was served with a writ of summons on 12 June 2013.The writ sets out a damages claim arising out of an assertion of trespass to an interest in certain land purportedly created by way of 
adverse possession prior to 2007. Ownership of the land, the subject matter of the claim, was transferred from the MRA to VenuesWest in January 2014 and forms part of the Champion Lakes Regatta 
Centre which was constructed in 2007. 

The State Solicitor’s Office is acting for the MRA and VenuesWest to defend the action. A hearing was held in March 2014 on a preliminary point that had a partly successful outcome, in that the 
Plaintiff’s action will no longer be proceeding over all of the land the subject of its original claim. However, the judgment on that preliminary point indicates that the claim can proceed in relation to 
the land originally owned by the City of Armadale - the area on which Wright Lake was situated. 

A court appointed mediation was held in the 4th quarter of 2015 but the mediation process was adjourned to allow the parties to obtain further information relevant to their respective positions.  
Relevantly for the Defendants, this will include a valuation of the revised area of land which is now the subject of the claim.  To succeed in its claim, the Plaintiff has to establish a possessory title as 
at 2004. On what has been provided by the Plaintiff to date in terms of evidence, this seems doubtful. Only if the Plaintiff succeeds in that task will the issue of trespass arise, which will involve the 
question of quantification of damages. 
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31. Financial Instruments
(a) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
Financial instruments held by the Authority are cash and cash equivalents held at bank, receivables, finance leases, payables and borrowings.  The Authority has limited exposure to financial risks.  
The Authority’s overall risk management program focuses on managing the risks identified below. The Authority’s overall risk management program focuses on managing the risks identified below.
Credit risk
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Authority’s receivables defaulting on their contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Authority. The maximum exposure to credit risk 
at end of the reporting period in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the gross carrying amount of those assets inclusive of any provisions for impairment, as shown in the table at 
note 31(c) ‘Financial Instruments Disclosures’ and note 13 ‘Receivables’. The Authority trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. The Authority has policies in place to ensure that sales 
of products and services are made to customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Authority’s exposure to 
bad debts is minimal. At the end of the reporting period, there were no significant concentrations of credit risk.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises when the Authority is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Authority is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business. The 
Authority’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of loans. The Authority has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows by monitoring 
forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments.
Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect the Authority’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The 
Authority does not trade in foreign currency and is not materially exposed to other price risks. The Authority’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relate primarily to the long-term 
debt obligations. The Authority’s borrowings are all obtained through the Western Australian Treasury Corporation (WATC) and are at variable rates with varying maturities. The risk is managed by 
WATC through portfolio diversification and variation in maturity dates. Other than as detailed in the Interest rate sensitivity analysis table at note 31(c), the Authority is not exposed to interest rate risk 
because apart from minor amounts of restricted cash, all other cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash are non-interest bearing and have no borrowings other than the Treasurer’s advance 
(non-interest bearing), WATC borrowings and finance leases (fixed interest rate).
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30. Explanatory Statement (cont.)
Significant variances between actual results for 2016 and 2015

 2016 
 Actual 

 $000 

 2016 
 Estimates

 $000 

Variance
$000

Income   
Sales Revenue 35,022 29,016 6,006
Developer Contribution Scheme 16,887 7,040 9,847
Rechargeable Works 6,974 17,613 (10,639)
Asset Revaluation Increment - 22,297 (22,297)
Grants and contributions from other government agencies 10,231 2,581 7,650

Expense
Cost of Sales 28,388 3,827 (24,561)
Developer Contribution Expenses 16,554 7,040 (9,514)
Rechargeable Works Expense 8,696 17,354 8,658
Property Maintenance 8,950 3,163 (5,787)
Write Down of Inventory to Net Realisable Value 28,901 40,043 11,142

Income:
Sales Income is higher than the previous financial year due to the settlement of a higher number of lot sales.
Developer Contribution Fees are higher than the prior year due to the number of development applications lodged by developers.
Rechargeable Works income is lower than prior year due to the reallocation of rechargeable works from equity to income in 2014/15.
The prior year Asset Revaluation Increment reflected the reclassification of a number of times from inventory, recorded at cost, that were subsequently valued at fair value.
Grants and Contributions from other Government Agencies have increased from prior year due to the commencement of works in the Midland and Scarborough Redevelopment Areas that are funded 
by Grants and Contributions from Other Government Agencies.

Expenses:
Cost of Goods Sold are higher than the previous financial year as the 2014/15 value reflected an adjustment to the estimated costs of sale recorded in a prior period.
Developer Contribution Expenses are higher than the prior year due to the number of development applications lodged by developers.
Rechargeable Works income is lower than prior year due to the reallocation of rechargeable works from equity to income in 2014/15.
Property Maintenance expenses are higher than the prior year as they include maintenance costs in the Central Perth Redevelopment Area that were budgeted as part of the asset investment 
program.
Inventory write downs are independently assessed at the end of each financial period and are a function of market movements. The current year expense relates to the Subiaco, Midland and Central 
Perth Redevelopment Areas.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2016



88 89MRA ANNUAL REPORT 2015-16     

(c) Financial Instrument Disclosures  

Credit Risk  
The following table discloses the Authority’s maximum exposure to credit risk and the ageing analysis of financial assets.  The Authority’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting 
period is the carrying amount of financial assets as shown below.  The table discloses the ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired and impaired financial assets.  The table is 
based on information provided to senior management of the Authority.

Ageing analysis of financial assets
Past due but not impaired

 Carrying amount
$000 

Not past due and 
not impaired

$000

Up to 1 month
$000

1-3 months 
$000

3 months to 1 
year 
$000

1-5 years 
$000

More than 5 
years 

$000

Impaired 
financial assets

$000

Financial assets:    
30 June 2016
Cash and Cash Equivalents 29,293 29,293 - - - - - -
Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents                            23,426 23,426 - - - - - -
Receivables (i) 13,702 12,348 1,199 131 24 - - -

66,421 65,067 1,199 131 24 - - -

Financial assets:
30 June 2015
Cash and Cash Equivalents: bank account  18,977  18,977  -    -    -    -    -    - 
Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents                             11,753  11,753  -    -    -    -    -    - 
Receivables (i) 17,904 17,869  11  -    24  -    -   -

 48,634  48,599  11  -    24  -  -  -   

(i) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (statutory receivable).

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2016

31. Financial Instruments (cont.)
(b) Categories of Financial Instruments
In addition to cash, the carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2016 
$000

2015 
$000

Financial Assets 29,293 18,977
Cash and Cash Equivalents: bank account 23,426 11,753
Restricted Cash 13,702 17,904
Receivables (i)

Financial Liabilities
Payables 16,557 26,285
Borrowings: WA Treasury Corporation Floating Rate 122,692 62,162
Borrowings: WA Treasury Corporation Fixed Rate 188,618 197,065
Borrowings: Western Australian Land Authority 10,397 9,579
Other Liabilities 1,166 1,239
(i) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (statutory receivable).

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Interest Rate Sensitivity Analysis
The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of the Authority’s financial assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period on the surplus for the period and equity for a 
100 basis point change in interest rates. It is assumed that the change in interest rates is held constant throughout the reporting period.

-100 basis points +100 basis points
Carrying Amount

$000
Surplus

$000
Equity

$000
Surplus

$000
Equity

$000

30 June 2016 
Financial assets:
Cash and Cash Equivalents: bank account 29,293 (293) (293) 293 293
Restricted Cash 23,426 (234) (234) 234 234
Receivables 13,702 (137) (137) 137 137
Financial liabilities:
Payables (i) 16,557 166 166 (166) (166)
Borrowings 321,707 3,217 3,217 (3,217) (3,217)
Other Liabilities 1,166 12 12 (12) (12)
Total Increase / (Decrease) 2,756 2,756 (2,756) (2,756)

30 June 2015
Financial assets:
Cash and Cash Equivalents: bank account  18,977  (190)  (190)  190  190 
Restricted Cash  11,753  (118)  (118)  118  118 
Receivables  17,904  (179)  (179)  179  179 
Financial liabilities:
Payables (i)  26,285  263  263  (263)  (263)
Borrowings  269,624  2,696  2,696  (2,696)  (2,696)
Other Liabilities  1,239  12  12  (12)  (12)
Total Increase / (Decrease)  2,484  2,484  (2,484)  (2,484)

(i) The amount of financial liabilities measured at amortised cost excludes GST payable to the  Australian Taxation Office (statutory payable).

(d) Fair Values
All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the Statement of Financial Position, whether they are carried at cost or fair value, are recognised at amounts that represent a reasonable 
approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes.
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31. Financial Instruments (cont.)
Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure
The following table details the Authority’s interest rate exposure and the contractual maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities.  The table includes interest and principal cashflows.

Interest rate exposures and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities
                       Interest rate exposure Maturity date

Weighted 
av. effective 
interest rate

Carrying 
amount

 $000

Fixed 
Interest Rate       

$000

Variable 
Interest Rate

$000

Non-Interest 
Bearing

$000

Adjustment 
for 

discounting
$000

Total 
nominal 
account

$000

Up to 3 
months

$000

3 - 12 
months

$000

1 - 2 years
$000

2 - 5 years
$000

More than 
5 years

$000

2016   
Financial assets:   
Cash and Cash Equivalents 1.70% 29,293 27,097 - 2,196 - 29,293 - - - - -
Restricted Cash and Cash 
Equivalents                            1.70% 23,426 23,426 - - - 23,426 - - - - -

Receivables (i) 13,702 - - 13,702 - 13,702 1,411 1,702 - 3,500 3,000
66,421 50,523 - 15,898 - 66,421 1,411 1,702 - 3,500 3,000

Financial liabilities:
Payables 16,557 - - 16,557 - 16,557 16,557 - - - -
Borrowings (b) 3.01% 321,707 188,618 122,692 10,397 - 321,707 - - 19,659 20,859 281,189
Other Liabilities 1,166 - - 1,166 - 1,166 - - - - -

339,430 188,618 122,692 28,120 - 339,430 16,557 - 19,659 20,859 281,189
2015   
Financial assets:   
Cash and Cash Equivalents 1.95%  18,977  15,757 -  3,220 -  18,977 - - - - -
Restricted Cash and Cash 
Equivalents                            1.95%  11,753  11,753 - - -  11,753 - - - - -

Receivables (i) 17,904 - -  17,904 - 17,904 -  7,427 2,000 6,430 2,047
 48,634  27,510  -    21,124  -    48,634 -  7,427 2,000   6,430   2,047   

Financial liabilities:
Payables  26,285 - -  26,285 -  26,285  26,035 - - -  250 
Borrowings (b) 3.03% 268,806 62,162 197,065 9,579 - 268,806  - - 16,603 26,842 225,361
Other Liabilities  1,239 - -  1,239 -  1,239 - - - - -

296,330  62,162 197,065 37,103  -  296,330 26,035 -  16,603 26,842 225,611

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2016 
$000

2015 
$000

33. Remuneration of Auditors
Remuneration payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the current financial period is as follows:
Auditing the accounts, financial statements and key performance indicators 66 58

66  58

34. Supplementary financial information
(a) Write Offs
There were no Public Property or bad debts written-off by the Board during the period. 
(b) Losses through theft, defaults and other causes
There were no losses of public money or public and other property through theft or default during the period.
(c) Gifts of public property
No gifts of public property were provided by the Authority.

35. Resources received free of charge
During the period the following resources were provided to the agency free of charge for functions  
outside the normal operations of the Authority:   
State Solicitors Office 126 105

126  105

36. Related bodies
The Authority has no related bodies.

2016 
$000

2015 
$000

32. Remuneration of members of the Accountable Authority and senior officers
Remuneration of Members of the Accountable Authority
$0 - $10,000 15             16 
$20,001 - $30,000 -              -   
$30,001 - $40,000 5               4 
$40,001 - $50,000 1               2 
$50,001 - $60,000 1               1 

22             23 

Base remuneration and superannuation 293 299
Annual leave and long service leave accruals -                   -   
Other benefits -                   -   
Total remuneration 293                299 

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Authority in respect of members of the Accountable Authority.  

Remuneration of Senior Officers
The number of senior officers, other than senior officers reported as members of the Accountable Authority, whose total fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for 
the financial period fall within the following bands are:
$160,001 - $170,000 2                     2 
$180,001 - $190,000 1                     1 
$210,001 - $220,000 1                     1 
$260,001 - $270,000 1                     1 
$280,001 - $290,001 - -

5                     5 

Base remuneration and superannuation 1,050 1,022
Annual leave and long service leave accruals 94                (36)
Other benefits - -
Total remuneration 1,143                986 

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Authority in respect of senior officers other than senior officers reported as members of the Accountable Authority.
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KEY PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS
The MRA Agency Level  
Desired Outcome is: 

‘To deliver vibrant, attractive and 
active redevelopment areas by 
building a sense of place, enhancing 
connectivity and environmental 
integrity, and promoting economic 
wellbeing, urban efficiency,  
and social inclusion through  
providing for the planning and 
redevelopment of those areas.’  

T
his outcome is guided by the MRA 
Redevelopment Area Objectives, 
as prescribed in the Metropolitan 
Redevelopment Authority 
Regulations 2011. Regulation 14 

Redevelopment Area Objectives: s.30(5)(c) 
states:

The objectives of each redevelopment area 
are, as follows, to: 

• build a sense of place by supporting high 
quality urban design, heritage protection, 
public art and cultural activities that 
respond to Perth’s environment, climate 
and lifestyle;

• promote economic wellbeing by 
supporting, where appropriate, 
development that facilitates investment 
and provides opportunity for local 
businesses and emerging industries to 
satisfy market demand;

• promote urban efficiency through 
infrastructure and buildings, the mix of 
land use and facilitating a critical mass of 
population and employment;

  

• enhance connectivity and reduce the 
need to travel by supporting development 
aimed at well designed places that 
support walking, cycling and public 
transit;

• promote social inclusion by encouraging, 
where appropriate, a diverse range of 
housing and by supporting community 
infrastructure and activities and 
opportunities for visitors and residents to 
socialise; and

• enhance environmental integrity by 
encouraging ecologically sustainable 
design, resource efficiency, recycling, 
renewable energy and protection of the 
local ecology.

The Redevelopment Area Objectives 
define the outcomes that the MRA intends 
to deliver within its redevelopment areas.  
These Redevelopment Area Objectives 
apply to all of the MRA’s Project Areas 
within its redevelopment areas. A single 
set of Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) 
is in place to measure the delivery of 
these Redevelopment Area Objectives.  
Each Redevelopment Area Objective is 
represented by a KPI that best reflects the 
individual Redevelopment Area Objective, 
and each KPI attempts to provide a useful 
measurement at any stage of the  
project cycle.

Scarborough Redevelopment Area 
Performance targets for the 2015/16 period 
were not identified as no clear/reliable 
parameters for estimating project yields 
existed at the time of reporting, as the 
Scarborough Redevelopment Area Master 
Plan had not been adopted and the new 
planning framework documents were yet to 
be created.

CERTIFICATION  
OF KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
We hereby certify that the Key Performance Indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and appropriate for assisting users 
to assess the Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority’s performance, and fairly represent the performance of the Metropolitan 
Redevelopment Authority for the financial year ended 30 June 2016.

  

Richard Muirhead Jeff Dowling Kieran Kinsella
Chairperson Deputy Chairperson Chief Executive Officer

Date: 24 August 2016
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TARGETS

Armadale Redevelopment Area1

Key Performance Indicator
2012/13

Baseline
2013/14

Actual Score
2014/15

Actual Score
2015/16
Target

2015/16
Actual Score Analysis

User Satisfaction
User Satisfaction against: 
- Project area quality 
- Project area amenity 
- Project area vitality

80% Survey not 
conducted

Survey not 
conducted

Survey not 
conducted

Survey not 
conducted

Not applicable 2015/16.  The Survey is conducted at the initiation of each 
project to establish a baseline then conducted again once the project is 
normalised or every five years whichever is the earlier.  The Survey was 
conducted in the 2012/13 year and therefore is not required to be conducted 
in the 2015/16 year. Refer to notes under User Satisfaction for the definition of 
normalisation.

Investment Generated
$ value of non-MRA investment compared to MRA 
investment

51:1 11.8:1 $226,755,179
:

$4,822,000
(47:1)

$162,217,500
:

$32,343,000
(5:1)

$131,138,325
:

$7,078,400
(18.5:1)

Private investment: $131,138,325
MRA Investment: $7,078,400
Development applications were received later than expected and as a result 
were not determined in 2015/16 as predicted.

Land Use Volume and Mix
Number of approved development application 
residential units2

Square metres of approved commercial, retail and 
industrial space

83 units

75,366m2

190 units

34,879 m2

241 units

50,103 m2

630 units

80,300m2

334 units

45,017m2

The revised structure plan for Wungong Urban Water Precinct D was 
expected to be finalised in 2015/16 facilitating subdivision and the delivery of 
developable lots. The complex environmental setting has delayed and hindered 
the developer’s finalisation of the revised structure plan in Precinct D, which is 
now anticipated to be finalised in 2016/17.
Additionally, slower market conditions have reduced the number of lots being 
released and developed by private landowners.

Housing Stock Diversity
Percentage of approved diverse residential dwellings 
according to number of bedrooms (1, 2 and 3 bedroom) 
(minimum percentage)

1  0%
2       0%
3+ 100%

1  0.6%
2  2.6%
3+ 96.8%

1  0%
2  2.4%
3+  97.6%

1 10%
2  20%
3+  30%

1 0%
2  1%
3+  99%

The high number of three bedroom plus dwellings is due to the dominance 
of single residential lots being produced at present within the Wungong and 
Armadale Redevelopment Areas to accommodate dwellings targeting first 
home buyers.

Public Transit Access
Number of approved dwellings within walkable 
catchment of public transport nodes/stops

17% 49 dwellings 
(25.8%)

81
(33.6%)

400 68 There are no public transport routes currently within the Wungong Urban 
Water project area however 25 approved dwellings are located within a 
walkable catchment distance of surrounding public transport routes. Some 
of the expected subdivisions adjacent to Armadale Road and Eighth Road 
and within walkable catchments of existing public transport options were not 
finalised this financial year as originally anticipated.  
The 43 dwellings within a walkable catchment of public transport nodes/stops 
represent 100% of the dwellings approved within the Champion Drive and 
Champion Lakes Precincts.

Green Star Rating
Number of (4-6) Green star rated (or equivalent) 
buildings

4 Star 0
5 Star 0
6 Star 0

4 Star 0
5 Star 0
6 Star 0

4 Star 0
5 Star 0
6 Star 0

4 Star 0
5 Star 0
6 Star 0

4 Star 0
5 Star 0
6 Star 0

There is currently no statutory requirement to achieve a Green Star rating (or 
equivalent) within the Armadale Redevelopment Area.

1 The Armadale Redevelopment Area comprises the Armadale and Wungong Urban Project Areas.
2 Includes serviced apartments.

AGENCY DESIRED OUTCOMES

AGENCY DESIRED OUTCOME To deliver vibrant, attractive and active redevelopment areas by building a sense of place, enhancing connectivity and environmental integrity, and promoting economic wellbeing,  
urban efficiency and social inclusion through providing for the planning and redevelopment of those areas.

REDEVELOPMENT OBJECTIVES

Sense of Place 
To build a sense of place by 
supporting high quality urban 
design, heritage protection, public 
art, and cultural activities that 
respond to Perth’s environment, 
climate and lifestyle.

Economic Wellbeing 
To promote economic well-
being by supporting, where 
appropriate, development that 
facilitates investment and provides 
opportunities for local businesses 
and emerging industries to satisfy 
market demand.

Urban Efficiency 
To promote urban efficiency 
through infrastructure and 
buildings, the mix of land use 
and facilitating a critical mass of 
population and employment.

Social Inclusion 
To promote social inclusion 
for various people in the 
redevelopment area by requiring 
diverse and affordable housing 
and supporting community 
infrastructure, activities and 
opportunities for visitors and 
residents to socialise.

Connectivity 
To enhance connectivity by 
supporting development aimed at 
well-designed places that support 
walking, cycling and public transit.

Environmental Integrity 
To enhance environmental integrity 
by encouraging ecologically 
sustainable design, resource 
efficiency, recycling, renewable 
energy and protection of the local 
ecology.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

User Satisfaction 
The concept of sense of place is 
best experienced and enunciated 
by the users of the redevelopment 
area. In order to measure sense of 
place, it is acknowledged that each 
redevelopment area, project and its 
associated precinct are at different 
stages of development and in turn, 
may not be suitable for surveying. 
User satisfaction will measure the 
level of satisfaction of the users of 
the redevelopment areas.

Investment Generated 
The MRA invests money into 
redevelopment areas to stimulate 
the investment by other parties 
into the area. The proportion 
of investment made by private 
industry and/or non-MRA 
government bodies into the 
redevelopment area is an indicative 
measure of the economic activity 
that has been produced from the 
MRA investment. 

Land Use Volume and Mix 
A critical mass of population is best 
measured through the capacity 
of buildings produced through the 
redevelopment. These measures 
must include the mix of land use – 
residential, commercial, retail and 
industrial that might be included in 
MRA redevelopment areas.

Housing Stock Diversity  
Redevelopment areas require a 
mixture of housing sizes to ensure 
the needs of the demographic 
mix of an area are catered for 
and to ensure consistency of 
measurements.  Housing Stock 
Diversity will be based on the 
number of bedrooms in a dwelling.  
This will represent a range of size 
of dwellings. The diversity of the 
housing stock delivered by the 
MRA in the redevelopment area 
is the most accurate measure to 
gauge social inclusion.

Public Transit Access 
Access of residents, workers 
and visitors to public transport 
options is an important gauge 
of connectivity within the 
redevelopment area. 

Green Star Rating 
The Green Star Rating system 
provides a measure of the 
environmental integrity and 
efficiency of the built form 
developed with the redevelopment 
area.  This measure will 
demonstrate the environmental 
integrity and efficiency of 
commercial buildings.

SERVICES

Delivery of Major Projects 
Key Efficiency Indicator - Overheads to Inventory and Profit 
The MRA exists to acquire land, develop land and sell land.  The costs it incurs to deliver these services 
speaks to the efficiency of the organisation.  The inventory of land assets held and the gross profit achieved 
through sales are two of the main metrics applicable to the MRA so a ratio of these metrics relative to the net 
operational overheads will track the efficiency of the Authority over time. 

Statutory Planning Control 
Key Efficiency Indicator - Statutory Planning Determination Timeframes 
Determining statutory applications is one of the most important and visible services the MRA provides to 
external parties who wish to develop in the redevelopment area.  The efficiency of these services is tied 
directly to critical services delivery and has the ability to impact the MRA reputation.



98 99MRA ANNUAL REPORT 2015-16     

TARGETS

Midland Redevelopment Area1

Key Performance Indicator
2012/13

Baseline
2013/14

Actual Score
2014/15

Actual Score
2015/16
Target

2015/16
Actual Score Analysis

User Satisfaction
User Satisfaction against: 
- Project area quality 
- Project area amenity 
- Project area vitality

76% Survey not 
conducted

Survey not 
conducted

Survey not 
conducted

Survey not 
conducted

Not applicable 2015/16.  The Survey is conducted at the initiation of each 
project to establish a baseline then conducted again once the project is 
normalised or every five years whichever is the earlier.  The Survey was 
conducted in the 2012/13 year and therefore is not required to be conducted 
in the 2015/16 year. Refer to notes under User Satisfaction for the definition of 
normalisation.

Investment Generated
$ value of non-MRA investment compared to MRA 
investment

4.6 : 1 1.2 : 1 $35,640,502
:

$4,950,000
(7:1)

$25,849,000
:

$16,786,000
(1.5:1)

$42,096,778
:

$13,531,165
(3.1:1)

Private investment: $42,096,778
MRA Investment: $13,531,165
Development is responding to the approval of the Midland Redevelopment 
Master Plan.

Land Use Volume and Mix
Number of approved development application 
residential units2

Square metres of approved commercial, retail and 
industrial space

15
8,485m2

9
0m2

73 units
7,408m2

187 units
48, 387m2

216 units
7,360m2

The difference in the target and actual scores for commercial floor space is 
due to the development application for the St John of God Private Hospital 
(Helena Precinct) not being received as predicted. The increase in the number 
of residential dwellings is due to development applications being received 
which were not subject to a contract of sale with the MRA.

Housing Stock Diversity
Percentage of approved diverse residential dwellings 
according to number of bedrooms (1, 2 and 3 bedroom) 
(minimum percentage)

1 53.3%
2 40%
3+ 6.7%

1 0%
2 100%
3+ 0%

1 22%
2 78%
3+ 0%

1 15%
2 40%
3+ 20%

1 14%
2  56%
3+  30%

Result is materially in line with the target.

Public Transit Access
Number of approved dwellings within walkable 
catchment of public transport nodes/stops

100% 9 dwellings
(100%)

73 dwellings
(100%)

187
(100%)

216
(100%)

100% of dwellings within walkable catchment of public transport nodes/stops. 
Number of dwellings greater than target due to a higher dwelling yield being 
achieved.

Green Star Rating
Number of (4-6) Green star rated (or equivalent) 
buildings

4 Star 1
5 Star 0
6 Star 0

4 Star 0
5 Star 0
6 Star 0

4 Star 0
5 Star 0
6 Star 0

4 Star 2
5 Star 0
6 Star 0

4 Star 3
5 Star 0
6 Star 0

Actual score is higher than the anticipated target due to an additional major 
development application being received.

1 The Midland Redevelopment Area comprises the Midland Project Area.
2 Includes serviced apartments.

Central Perth Redevelopment Area1

Key Performance Indicator
2012/13

Baseline
2013/14

Actual Score
2014/15

Actual Score
2015/16
Target

2015/16
Actual Score Analysis

User Satisfaction
User Satisfaction against: 
- Project area quality 
- Project area amenity 
- Project area vitality

90% Survey not 
conducted

Survey not 
conducted

Survey not 
conducted

Survey not 
conducted

Not applicable 2015/16.  The Survey is conducted at the initiation of each 
project to establish a baseline then conducted again once the project is 
normalised or every five years whichever is the earlier.  The Survey was 
conducted in the 2012/13 year and therefore is not required to be conducted 
in the 2015/16 year. Refer to notes under User Satisfaction for the definition of 
normalisation.

Investment Generated
$ value of non-MRA investment compared to MRA 
investment

1.7:1 2.3:1 $136,777,000
:

$184,635,055
(0.7:1)

$856,397,436
:

$162,043,000
(5.3:1)

$713,391,321
:

$104,540,417
(6.8:1)

Private investment: $713,391,321
MRA Investment: $104,540,417
The value and number of residential development applications received was 
higher than expected in the 2015/16 year.

Land Use Volume and Mix
Number of approved development application 
residential units2

Square metres of approved commercial, retail and 
industrial space

41
36,808m2

494
22,853m2

46 units
8,607m2

1,572 units
120,807m2

1,415 units
5,021m2

The difference in the target and actual score is due largely to two major 
development applications not being received as targeted which had been 
predicted to yield approximately 110,000m2 of commercial floor space. Further, 
no development application was received for a mixed used development in 
Perth City Link which accounts for why the number of dwellings is roughly 100 
dwellings less than expected.

Housing Stock Diversity
Percentage of approved diverse residential dwellings 
according to number of bedrooms (1, 2 and 3 bedroom) 
(minimum percentage)

1   14.6%
2   48.8%
3+  36.6%

1   67.8%
2   27.9%
3+  4.3%

1   57% 
2  36.5%
3+  6.5%

1 20%
2  40%
3+  10%

1 34%
2  54%
3+  12%

Result is in line with the target.

Public Transit Access
Number of approved dwellings within walkable 
catchment of public transport nodes/stops

100% 494 dwellings 
(100%)

46 dwellings
(100%)

1,572
(100%)

1,415
(100%)

100% of dwellings within walkable catchment of public transport nodes/stops. 
Number of dwellings lower than target due to a lower dwelling yield being 
achieved.

Green Star Rating
Number of (4-6) Green star rated (or equivalent) 
buildings

4 Star 4
5 Star 2
6 Star 0

4 Star 4
5 Star 0
6 Star 0

4 Star 4
5 Star 0
6 Star 0

4 Star 0
5 Star 7
6 Star 0

4 Star 0
5 Star 3
6 Star 0

Actual score is lower than the anticipated target due to a number of major 
development applications not being received.

1 The Central Perth Redevelopment Area comprises the Elizabeth Quay, Perth City Link, Riverside, Perth Cultural Centre, New Northbridge, Claisebrook Village and East Perth Power Station Project Areas.
2 Includes serviced apartments.
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Subiaco Redevelopment Area1

Key Performance Indicator
2012/13

Baseline
2013/14

Actual Score
2014/15

Actual Score
2015/16
Target

2015/16
Actual Score Analysis

User Satisfaction
User Satisfaction against: 
- Project area quality 
- Project area amenity 
- Project area vitality

82% Survey not 
conducted

Survey not 
conducted

Survey not 
conducted

Survey not 
conducted

Not applicable 2015/16.  The Survey is conducted at the initiation of each 
project to establish a baseline then conducted again once the project is 
normalised or every five years whichever is the earlier.  The Survey was 
conducted in the 2012/13 year and therefore is not required to be conducted 
in the 2015/16 year. Refer to notes under User Satisfaction for the definition of 
normalisation.

Investment Generated
$ value of non-MRA investment compared to MRA 
investment

36.4:1 91:1 $73,850,000
:

$590,000
(125:1)

$23,909,530
:

$186,000
(128.5:1)

$56,134,260
:

$470,714 
(119.3:1)

Private investment: $56,134,260
MRA Investment: $470,714
The value and number of residential development applications received was 
higher than expected within the 2015/16 year.

Land Use Volume and Mix
Number of approved development application 
residential units2

Square metres of approved commercial, retail and 
industrial space

101
345m2

323
7,866m2

126 units
12, 895 m2

78 units
800m2

198 units
95 m2

The increase in the number of residential dwellings is due to a development 
application being lodged later than expected.  The development application 
had been expected to be approved in the previous financial year.

Housing Stock Diversity
Percentage of approved diverse residential dwellings 
according to number of bedrooms (1, 2 and 3 bedroom) 
(minimum percentage)

1  49.5%
2  41.7%
3+  8.8%

1   32.5%
2   57%
3+  10.5%

1  57% 
2  36.5% 
3+  6.5%

1  10% 
2  50% 
3+  20%

1 37%
2  50%
3+  13%

Result is in line with the target.

Public Transit Access
Number of approved dwellings within walkable 
catchment of public transport nodes/stops

100% 323 dwellings 
(100%)

126 dwellings
(100%)

78
(100%)

198
(100%)

100% of dwellings within walkable catchment of public transport nodes/stops. 
Number of dwellings greater than target due to a higher dwelling yield being 
achieved.

Green Star Rating
Number of (4-6) Green star rated (or equivalent) 
buildings

4 Star 1
5 Star 0
6 Star 0

4 Star 2
5 Star 0
6 Star 0

4 Star 4
5 Star 0
6 Star 0

4 Star 2
5 Star 0
6 Star 0

4 Star 3
5 Star 0
6 Star 0

The increase in the number of Green Star developments approved is due a 
development application being lodged later than expected. It had expected it 
to be approved in the previous financial year.

1 The Subiaco Redevelopment Area comprises the Subi Centro Project Area.
2 Includes serviced apartments.

TARGETS

Scarborough Redevelopment Area1

Key Performance Indicator
2012/13

Baseline
2013/14

Actual Score
2014/15

Actual Score
2015/16
Target

2015/16
Actual Score Analysis

User Satisfaction
User Satisfaction against: 
- Project area quality 
- Project area amenity 
- Project area vitality

Survey not 
conducted

Survey not 
conducted

A Sense of Place survey was not conducted within the Scarborough 
Redevelopment Area for the 2015/16 period as on ground works had not yet 
commenced.  The Survey will be conducted in the 2016/17 year to give a 
baseline figure.

Investment Generated
$ value of non-MRA investment compared to MRA 
investment

Not Applicable $89,825,135
:

$3,562,897 
(25.2:1)

Private investment: $89,825,135
MRA Investment: $3,562,897 
Development is responding to the approval of the Scarborough Redevelopment 
Area Master Plan.

Land Use Volume and Mix
Number of approved development application 
residential units2

Square metres of approved commercial, retail and 
industrial space

Not Applicable 236 units
2,496 m2

A positive response to the release of the Scarborough Master Plan was 
seen in 2015/16 with a number of multi-storey residential and mixed 
use developments approved on private land within the Scarborough 
Redevelopment Area.

Housing Stock Diversity
Percentage of approved diverse residential dwellings 
according to number of bedrooms (1, 2 and 3 bedroom) 
(minimum percentage)

Not Applicable 1 38%
2 54%
3+ 8%

The diversity of dwelling types approved within Scarborough generally 
aligns with the level of diversity achieved in the Central Perth and Subiaco 
Redevelopment Areas. While there was no target in place, developments were 
required to accord with the targets prescribed under the Residential Design 
Codes which require a minimum  of 20% 1-bedroom dwellings and minimum of 
40% 2-bedroom dwellings.

Public Transit Access
Number of approved dwellings within walkable 
catchment of public transport nodes/stops

Not Applicable 236
(100%)

100% of dwellings within walkable catchment of public transport nodes/stops.

Green Star Rating
Number of (4-6) Green star rated (or equivalent) 
buildings

Not Applicable 4 Star 1
5 Star 0
6 Star 0

One residential development approved within 2015/16 was conditional upon 
achieving a minimum 4 Star Green Star rating, or equivalent, in accordance 
with the draft Scarborough Development Policy 1 – ‘Green Building’ as the 
application was considered under the draft Scarborough Redevelopment Area 
Planning Framework at the applicant’s request.

1 The Scarborough Redevelopment Area comprises the Scarborough Project Area.
2 Includes serviced apartments.
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User Satisfaction
The survey is conducted at the initiation 
of each project to establish a baseline 
then once the project is normalised or 
every five years whichever is the earlier.  
The survey was conducted in the 2012-13 
year and therefore is not required to be 
conducted in 2015-16.  The MRA has a 
target of 70% for the overall life of each 
redevelopment area.

Normalisation

Normalisation is the term given to 
the process for returning planning 
functions and powers to the applicable 
local government authority once 
redevelopment of an area is complete. 
Section 31(1)(b) of the Metropolitan 
Redevelopment Authority Act 2011 
(MRA Act) provides powers to subtract 
land from a Redevelopment Area 
defined under Schedules 1 – 4 of the 
Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority 
Regulations 2011 (MRA Regulations). 
Normalisation can occur on a site-by-site 
basis but is generally progressed in larger 
consolidated areas for administrative 
efficiency.

The functions and powers of the 
Planning and Development Act 2005, the 
Metropolitan Region Scheme and relevant 
local government scheme are reinstated 
following normalisation. 

The Subtracted Area Regulations 
identify land that will be returned to the 
local government’s statutory planning 
authority. Typically transitional provisions 
will be included in the Subtracted Area 
Regulations. The transitional provisions 
will allow the local government to apply 
elements of the MRA Planning Framework 
until such time as there Local Planning 
Scheme can be amended to include 
appropriate provisions for the normalised 
area.

Investment Generated
Results derived by:

MRA investment:

• Amount capitalised as inventory.

• Plus any capitalised work on the MRA’s 
investment properties.

• Plus the cost of works done by the MRA 
for other government agencies.

Non-MRA investment:

• Development applications approved 
in the period were filtered by 
redevelopment area, then by project 
and precinct.

• A ratio is then sought after both non-
MRA investment and MRA investment 
has been calculated.

• The formula is value of non-MRA 
investment ($) compared to MRA 
investment ($).

Urban Efficiency
Number of approved development 
applications for residential units

• This was demonstrated by the number 
of approved development applications 
for residential, mixed-use, change of 
use to residential and amendments 
approved in the past financial year per 
Redevelopment Area, then by project 
and precinct.

Square metres of approved development 
applications for commercial, retail, 
industrial (etc) space

• This was demonstrated by the 
number of development applications 
approved in the past financial year per 
redevelopment area, then by project 
and precinct.

• Development applications for small 
additions such as patios and fencing 
were not included.

• Details of all approved floor space for 
applications were obtained from the 
Planning and Contract of Sale system 
(PACS).

Notes to Accompany Effectiveness Results 
MRA METHODOLOGY 

Services
2012/13 

Baseline

2013/14 
Actual 
Score

2014/15
Actual Score

2015/16
Target

2015/16
Actual Score Analysis

Delivery of major projects within MRA 
Redevelopment Areas
Key Performance Indicator
Ratio of net operational overheads to 
average inventory plus gross profit

11% 9% 10% 12% 15% The original KPI target used a lower cost base, 
assumed to be only project related expenses. Target 
now based on overall MRA expenses. The actual 
score is higher than target due to lower average 
inventory balances.

Statutory Planning Control
Key Performance Indicator
Median determination timeframe in days 
for Development Applications (standard 
and major), subdivision applications and 
structure plans

59 days 68 days 
(standard)

113 days
 (major)

Armadale Standard 41 days
Major 363 days

90 days 
(standard)

120 days 
(major)

Armadale Standard 22 days
Major N/A

No major development applications were approved 
within the Armadale Redevelopment Area within the 
2015/16 financial year.
Three major development applications were 
received within the Central Perth Redevelopment 
Area. All required design changes and the MRA 
agreed to extend the determination timeframe to 
give the applicant additional time to amend plans.
Three major development applications were 
received within the Midland Redevelopment Area. 
All required design changes and the MRA agreed 
to extend the determination timeframe to give the 
applicant additional time to amend plans.

Central Perth Standard 75 days
Major 196 days

Central Perth Standard 63 days
Major 154

Midland Standard 87 days
Major 145 days

Midland Standard 54 days
Major 173

Subiaco Standard 60 days
Major 184 days

Subiaco Standard 55 days
Major 113

Scarborough Not Applicable Scarborough Standard 72 days
Major 123

* Section 65(2) of the Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority Act 2011 requires major development applications be approved within 120 days after the date on which the application is received. 

**  Section 65(2) of the Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority Act 2011 requires standard development applications to be approved within 90 days after the date on which the application is received. 

SERVICES
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Ministerial Directives
Section 115(1) of the Metropolitan 
Redevelopment Authority Act 2011 (Act) 
provides:

“the Minister may give written directions 
to the Authority with respect to the 
performance of its functions under this 
or any other Act, either generally or in 
relation to a particular matter, and the 
Authority must give effect to any such 
direction when it becomes effective under 
section 116”.

The Metropolitan Redevelopment 
Authority (MRA) received no Ministerial 
Directives from 1 July 2015 to 30 June 
2016.

Ministerial Recommendations
Section 29(1) of the Act states:

“the Governor must not make regulations 
under section 30 or 31 that declare land to 
be, or add land to a redevelopment area 
except on the recommendation of the 
Minister”.

Section 29(5) of the Act provides:

“if the Minister recommends the making of 
regulations the content of which is, in the 
Minister’s opinions, significantly different 
to any recommendations made by the 

Western Australian Planning Commission 
under this section, the Minister must cause 
notice of the difference to be laid before 
each House of Parliament or dealt with 
under section 132 of the Act, within 14 days 
on which the Minister’s recommendation is 
given.”

The MRA received no Ministerial 
Recommendations of this nature from  
1 July 2015 to 30 June 2016.

Ministerial Approvals
Section 47(4) of the Act provides:

“if the Minister approves a draft 
redevelopment scheme the content 
of which is, in the Minister’s opinion, 
significantly different to any 
recommendation given by the Western 
Australian Planning Commission under 
section 46, the Minister must cause notice 
of the difference to be laid before each 
House of Parliament or dealt with under 
section 132 of the Act, with 14 days after 
the scheme start day.”

The MRA received no Ministerial 
Approvals of this nature from 1 July 2015 
to 30 June 2016.

Pricing Policies
In accordance with the Metropolitan 
Redevelopment Authority Regulations 
2011 (Regulations), the MRA provides 
planning services in accordance with 
fees prescribed at Schedule 5 of the 
Regulations.

Unauthorised Use of Credit Card
In accordance with Treasurer’s Instruction 
321 “Credit Cards - Authorised Use”, the 
MRA is required to report instances of 
personal expenditure using a Western 
Australian Government Purchasing Card.

During the period 1 January – 30 June 
2016:
a. there were two instances of personal 

expenditure, totalling $219 in value;
b. both instances were accidental 

in nature and were reported 
immediately to the appropriate 
authority, in accordance with 
Treasurer’s Instruction 321;

c. each instance was invoiced by the 
MRA and repaid by the individual;

d. there are no outstanding debts in this 
respect as at 30 June 2016; and

e. no referrals for disciplinary action 
were required for the reporting 
period to 30 June 2016.

Government Policy Requirements
The Government Building Training Policy 
is applicable for building and construction 
contracts, where the construction 
component of the contract has an 
estimated labour value of $2million and 
over; or for a maintenance contract, 
where the estimated labour component is 
$2million and over for the total contract.

Since this policy was enacted in October 
2015, only one applicable contract 
has been awarded for Stage 2B and 
3 Scheme Services and Landscape at 
Perth City Link, awarded to Georgiou 
Group.  Subsequently, an exemption was 
sought to modify the terms of this policy 
as it applied to this contract.  As per the 
policy, the civil construction nature of this 
contract is considered justifiable grounds 
for reducing the target rate however 
given the policy is so far untested within 
the MRA, a reduced rate is unable to be 
proposed.  In the absence of any available 
benchmarking to determine a reduced 
rate, the exemption has been sought on 
the basis that Georgiou Group are still 
required to meet the quarterly reporting 
obligations of the policy and apply 
reasonable endeavours to meet the  
target rate.

DISCLOSURES 
AND LEGAL COMPLIANCE

Social Inclusion
• Only development applications 

approved in the past financial year per 
Redevelopment Area, then by project 
and precinct were included.

• The development applications were 
for residential, mixed-use, change of 
use to residential and amendments to 
development applications. 

• Development applications for mixed-
use developments which did not include 
residential or applications for transient 
residential such as hotel uses were not 
included.

• Dwelling statistics for all approved 
residential dwellings were obtained 
from PACS. 

Connectivity
Results derived by only including 
development applications approved 
in the past financial year for each 
redevelopment area and then by project 
area and precinct.

These results were further refined by 
including only development applications 
for new residential and mixed-use 
development.

• Straight Line Distance Analysis

 – Development applications which were 
within walkable 400 metres distance 
of a bus stop and/or 800 metres of 
transit stops were analysed.    

• Walkable Distance Analysis  

 – The list of development application 
lots within a straight line 400 metres 
to 800 metres distance of a transit 
stop were assessed to see if they 
were within 400 metres to 800 
metres via the road network.  This 
was undertaken using Google Maps 
measurement tool as the transit stops 
are visible on Google Maps.

• Final count of applicable development 
applications within walkable distance of 
transit stops by scheme area.

 – The list of applicable development 
applications within walkable distance of 
transit was then sorted by project area.

Environmental Integrity
Results derived by only including 
development applications approved 
in the past financial year for each 
redevelopment area and then by project 
area and precinct.

These results were further refined by 
including only development applications 
for new commercial, industrial, mixed-
use, community or residential units 
excluding single dwellings

Green-Star conditions are only imposed 
when constructing new buildings.

Development approvals and individual 
files were reviewed to determine whether 
a (4/5/6 star) Green-Star rating was 
imposed as a condition of the approval.

Statutory Planning Control
The measure utilised was the average 
timeframe (in days) within which 
development applications (standard and 
major) were determined and applicants 
notified.

Subdivision applications are determined 
by the Western Australian Planning 
Commission (WAPC) within the Armadale 
Redevelopment Area, with the WAPC 
providing the MRA with a 42-day 
referral period prior to them making a 
determination.

MRA METHODOLOGY
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DISCLOSURES AND LEGAL COMPLIANCE

During 2015-16, the MRA paid $42,581.50 
(excluding GST) for insurance to indemnify 
its directors as defined in  
Part 3 of the Statutory Corporations 
(Liability of Directors) Act 1996 against 
liability incurred under sections 13 or 14 
of the Statutory Corporations (Liability of 
Directors) Act 1996.

The Public Sector Commissioner’s Contact 
with Lobbyist’s Code and Contact with 
Lobbyist’s Register have been developed to 
ensure that contact between lobbyists and 
government is conducted in accordance 
with public expectations of transparency, 
integrity, accountability and honesty.   The 
MRA has a Contact with Lobbyists Policy 
which ensures that all staff are aware of 
the requirements of the Public Sector 
Commissioner’s Circular 2009-13, and 
comply with the obligations detailed in 
the Contact with Lobbyist Code.  The MRA 
records all lobbyist contact on a Contact with 
Lobbyist Register.

Major Capital Projects
Please refer to Agency Performance for 
information about the MRA’s major capital 
projects.

Substantive Equality
While the MRA is not required to set out 
in its annual report the progress achieved 
in implementing the policy framework for 
substantive equality, it is committed to 
eliminating systemic forms of discrimination 
and promoting awareness and sensitivity of 
the different needs of client groups.  

Occupational Safety and Health
The MRA is committed to responsible and 
effective management of Occupational 
Safety and Health (OSH) in all aspects of 
its functions. The MRA values the safety 
and health of its people, contractors, 
customers and other stakeholders 
affected by the work it undertakes and 
the property it is involved with. Ongoing 
development and improvement of the OSH 
Management System is a key focus of the 
MRA Executive Committee.

The OSH Management System was 
internally audited against the WorkSafe Plan 
and the review informed development of 
an annual action plan.  The MRA elected an 
OSH Committee which provides a forum for 
staff consultation on safety related issues 
and oversees implementation of a range of 
safety and health management practices 
including education, training, reporting, 
discussion and accountability as part of the 
OSH Management System Implementation 
Plan.  The action plan will be internally 
audited against the WorkSafe Plan to 
evaluate progress and inform planning of 
OSH activities.

The MRA complies with the injury 
management requirements of the Workers’ 
Compensation and Injury Management 
Act 1981 and has workers’ compensation, 
injury management and return to work 
policies, procedures and documentation.

(Please note results are reported every 
three years).

Compliance with Public Sector 
Standards and Ethical Codes
The MRA expects employees to display a 
high standard of ethical behaviour during 
the course of their work and provides 
annual training sessions in accountable 
and ethical decision making. In 2015-16, 
the MRA held nine accountable and ethical 
decision making refresher training sessions. 
The Code of Conduct and Ethics is published 
on the MRA intranet and all new employees 
are provided a copy and are familiarised 
with the code of conduct and ethics and 
required to declare their understanding and 
compliance with the codes.

The MRA’s performance management 
system (Compass) provides a framework for 
linking individuals’ performance goals with 
strategic and operational goal alignment 
throughout the agency. It enforces a synergy 
between the MRA’s mission and values.

Marketing and Advertising
In compliance with Section 175ZE of the 
Electoral Act 1907, the MRA incurred the 
following expenditure in advertising, 
market research, polling, direct mail and 
media advertising to promote land sales, 
communicate traffic and project updates 
and promote place making initiatives across 
the MRA’s five redevelopment areas.  
Total expenditure for the reporting 
period was $2.11million (excluding GST). 
Expenditure that was incurred is detailed in 
the following table: 

Total Amounts

Advertising Agencies

Rare Creative Thinking $1,186,379

BH Graphic Design $13,857

Market Research Organisations

IPSOS Australia $79,300
Research Solutions $40,950
Painted Dog $16,432
Culture Counts $6,838

Media Advertising Organisations

Carat $741,438
AdCorp $27,110

Polling Organisations Nil

Direct Mail Organisations Nil

Disability Access and Inclusion Plan
The MRA believes that people with 
disability should have equal opportunity 
to access the MRA’s services, facilities 
and information.  In accordance with 
Part 5 of the Disability Services Act 1993, 
the MRA established a Disability Access 
and Inclusion Plan (DAIP) 2012-2017 in 
November 2012. 

DAIP initiatives undertaken during  
2015-16 to address the desired outcomes 
in accordance with Schedule 3 of the 
Disability Services Regulations 2004 (the 
DS Regulations) were:

• employee awareness of disability 
and access issues continues to be 
maintained through notification to staff 
of the MRA’s Disability Access and 
Inclusion Plan (DAIP) 2012-2017;

Measure Number

Active contracts within the scope 
of the policy in the reporting 
period

1

Contract granted a variation to 
the target training rate in the 
reporting period

1

Head contracts involved in the 
contracts

1

Construction apprentices/
trainees required to meet target 
training rate

2

Construction apprentices/
trainees employed by 
head contractors; and the 
subcontractors they are using for 
the contracts

34

Contracts which met or exceeded 
the target training rate

0

Staff Development
The MRA understands that in order to 
deliver innovative urban redevelopment, a 
highly capable, competent and motivated 
team is required. The MRA values its 
staff and continually seeks to identify 
and provide opportunities for staff to 
develop their personal and professional 
competencies.

MRA staff have attended over 800 hours 
of role specific professional development 
courses, as well as courses aimed at 
developing broader capabilities to 
enhance future management career 
opportunities, including the attendance 
at Accountable Ethical Decision Making, 
Cultural Awareness Training, Customer 
Driven Innovation Program and Records 
Awareness Training.

The MRA Workforce and Diversity Plan 
2013 to 2017 provides the MRA with a 
strategic focus to enhance productivity 
through development and retention 
of high quality people and to foster an 
inclusive workforce culture.

By focusing on the recruitment and 
retention of highly skilled staff, the MRA 
will continue to strive to be an employer 
of choice.

Workers Compensation
There has been no Workers’ Compensation 
Claims received during the financial year.

Policies, procedures and programs 
to assist employees
The MRA has a number of policies and 
programs that enhance a positive working 
environment, these include the following:

• Workforce Diversity Plan 2013-17
• Workplace Policy
• Home Based Work Policy
• Hours and Flexible Working 

Arrangements Policy
• Injury Management Policy
• Defence Force Leave Policy
• Education and Professional 

Membership Assistance
• Eyesight Screening and Testing Policy
• Occupational safety and Health Policy

• Purchased Leave 42-52 Salary 
Arrangement Policy

• Wellness Strategy
• Compass (Performance Management 

System)
• Gifts and Hospitality Policy
• Grievances Resolution Policy

Governance Disclosures
All MRA Board and Committee agendas 
have a standing item which invites Board 
and Committee members to declare 
conflicts of interest, in accordance with 
the requirements of section 97(1) of the 
Act and the common law doctrine of 
disqualification arising from a reasonable 
apprehension of bias. 

The MRA’s contract administration system 
requires senior officers to declare interests 
in any existing or proposed contracts they 
are involved in administering.  During the 
2015-16 year, one interest was declared.  
All interests declared during the 2015-16 
period have been recorded on the MRA’s 
Interest’s Register.

Measure

Actual Results* Results against Target

2013/14 2015/16 Target Comment on result
Number of fatalities 0 0 0 Target achieved
Lost time injury and/or disease incidence rate 0.78 0 0 Target achieved
Lost time injury and/or disease severity rate 0 0 0 Target achieved
Percentage of injured workers returned to work:

(i) Within 13 weeks

(ii) Within 26 weeks

Not Applicable

Not Applicable

Not Applicable

Not Applicable

=> 80%

=> 80%

Target achieved

Percentage of managers trained in occupational safety, health 
and injury management responsibilities

22% 84% => 80%
An online training module is being developed to complement the induction and 
refresher training. 100% participation is expected by the end of 2016.



108

DISCLOSURES AND LEGAL COMPLIANCE

• “Creating Accessible Events” checklist 
has been incorporated into the MRA’s 
event toolkit to ensure that all venues 
are accessible to all ages, abilities and 
adequate facilities for people with 
disability are provided. 

• The MRA master plan template has been 
developed in alignment with the Project 
Management Framework which includes 
provision to address universal access in 
the public domain. 

• The first Changing Places facility was 
delivered at Elizabeth Quay to ensure 
people with disability have the same 
opportunities as other people to access 
the services of the space and events.

• The MRA continues to review the 
accessibility of the website and intranet, 
and associated content. Updates to the 
MRA website have been implemented 
following a full accessibility review of 
design and functionality. 

Reconciliation Action Plan
In August 2013, the MRA launched its first 
Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP), formally 
endorsed by Reconciliation Australia.  The 
Reflect RAP stage was chosen to allow 
the MRA to initially concentrate on raising 
employee awareness about the MRA’s 
commitment to reconciliation.

The MRA was in the RAP Reflect 2 stage 
in the 2015-16 year, and an internal RAP 
Working Group met quarterly.   
Key highlights achieved were:

• ‘Welcome to Country’ protocols 
were communicated throughout the 
organisation to ensure they were enacted 

• during any public meetings, forum or 
large staff events hosted by the MRA;

• new MRA staff received Cultural 
Awareness Training facilitated by Kooya 
Consulting, while existing staff received 
refresher training;

• awareness of the RAP was raised 
internally through email, articles, internal 
events and/or presentations;

• in July 2015, the MRA hosted a  
NAIDOC event in the Perth Cultural 
Centre. The event was predominantly 
food focused, with local food vendors 
showcasing their produce and providing 
samples in a small community setting, 
with entertainment including a 
Welcome to Country and didgeridoo set, 
performances, traditional dance stories 
and ochre face painting, as well as a live 
broadcast from Noongar Radio;

• throughout 2015-16, public art works were 
developed and/or installed at Elizabeth 
Quay, inspired by Noongar people and 
culture, as follows: 
 – BHP Billiton Water Park Mosaic to be 

installed at the base of the water park, 
the mosaic is a collaboration between 
artists Sandra Hill and Jenny Dawson 
and is inspired by many elements of 
Noongar culture.  

 – First Contact created by Aboriginal 
artist Laurel Nannup, the artwork is a 
representation of the early European 
settlers arriving on the banks of the 
Swan River. 

• in January, the opening of Elizabeth Quay 
included a Welcome to Country by Dr 
Richard Walley OAM, as well as smoking 

ceremonies, sand dancing and  
traditional stories;

• in February, Premier Colin Barnett and 
Planning Minister John Day joined 
Whadjuk Noongar Elders to ‘turn the soil’ 
to mark the start of construction of Yagan 
Square at Perth City Link; and

• regular working group meetings and 
consultation was carried out with the 
Whadjuk Noogar people on all MRA 
projects and events, including the opening 
of Elizabeth Quay. 

In 2016-17, the MRA will further deliver the 
RAP and continue the agency’s commitment 
to develop opportunities and procurement 
processes for Aboriginal business 
participation in MRA projects. 

Record Keeping Plan
Under section 19 of the State Records Act 
2000, the MRA has a Recordkeeping Plan 
which was approved by the State Records 
Commission on 6 December 2013. The MRA 
recordkeeping plan governs how the MRA 
captures, stores and manages records.

In 2015-16, the MRA continued to use an 
electronic documents records management 
system (EDRMS) to manage information 
efficiently and effectively to meet legislative, 
business, administrative, financial, 
evidential and historical requirements.

The MRA also operated in accordance 
with an approved retention and disposal 
schedule and recordkeeping policy, which 
held staff, contractors and organisations that 
perform on behalf of the MRA responsible 
for their records involvement. Policies and 
procedures were updated, as required, to 
ensure all requirements were met.

The MRA’s induction program for 
recordkeeping continued to be compulsory 
for all new staff, covering employee 
recordkeeping responsibilities, as well as an 
overview of how to use the EDRMS. 

In late-2015, a thorough review of MRA 
recordkeeping training was undertaken, 
which identified the need to provide 
existing staff with refresher training. The 
objective of this training was to ensure each 
member of the agency understood what a 
record is and why records matter, is aware 
of the recordkeeping responsibilities and 
understands the importance of keeping 
accurate and accessible records.

The refresher training was implemented 
and well received, with the enhanced 
information to be incorporated into the MRA 
induction program, as well as being offered 
to existing staff on a regular basis, in 2016-
17 and beyond.

Freedom of Information Requests
In accordance with the Freedom of 
Information Act 1992, the MRA has a 
procedure and strategy in place to assist 
with Freedom of Information requests. 

The MRA received 11 Freedom of 
Information requests in the 2015-16 
reporting period which includes both 
applications made directly to the MRA 
and requests transferred from other 
government agencies.

The MRA Information Statement provides 
information about the MRA and how to 
make an FOI request. It is available to the 
public at www.mra.wa.gov.au.



FURTHER INFORMATION

For further information on the  
Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority and our projects,  
please visit www.mra.wa.gov.au or call 08 6557 0700

Please note: The MRA Annual Report can also be 
provided in other formats. Please contact the MRA 
to request alternate document formats.
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